Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network

PROTOCOL FOR MONITORING AND ASSESSING METHYLMERCURY AND BIOACCUMULATIVE ORGANIC CONTAMINANTS IN AQUATIC FOOD WEBS

Prepared by

James Wiener¹, Roger Haro¹, Kristofer Rolfhus¹, Mark Sandheinrich¹, and Bill Route²

¹University of Wisconsin-La Crosse River Studies Center, 1725 State Street La Crosse, Wisconsin 54601

²National Park Service Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network 2800 Lake Shore Drive East Ashland, Wisconsin 54806

for the

National Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior` Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network Technical Report Number GLKN/2008/__, version 1.0 (April 18, 2008)

Suggestion Citation: Wiener J., R. Haro, K. Rolfhus, M. Sandheinrich, and B. Route. 2008. Protocol for monitoring and assessing methylmercury and organic contaminants in aquatic food webs. National Park Service, Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network Technical Report No. GLKN/2008/version 1.0 (April 18, 2008).

PREFACE

This protocol outlines a framework for quantifying concentrations of methylmercury, total mercury, and bioaccumulative organic contaminants in aquatic organisms selected as biosentinels of localized contamination of aquatic food webs in six parks of the Great Lakes Network. This protocol, together with the companion protocol for monitoring bioaccumulative contaminants in nestling bald eagles (Route, Bowerman, & Kozie 2008), provide contaminant monitoring across the nine park units of the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network.

The protocol focuses on three groups of biosentinel organisms (small prey fish and larval dragonflies for mercury, and predatory fish for organic contaminants) that are widely distributed in aquatic habitats in parks within the Great Lakes Network. The selection of these biosentinel organisms for monitoring and assessment was based on published recommendations, on inferences drawn from existing data for park units in the Great Lakes Network, and on the authors' collective experience with investigations of mercury and bioaccumulative organic contaminants in aquatic biota in Parks and other surface waters within the region. Other biosentinel organisms should be considered for inclusion in the protocol when needed to enhance the application and effectiveness of this protocol for assessing contamination of aquatic food webs in the Great Lakes Network.

The authors recommend that the first 3 years of this inventory and monitoring program, 2008-2010, be devoted to three tasks: (1) the collection and analysis of samples from the six park units; (2) statistical analysis, interpretation, and reporting of the data; and (3) the further evaluation of data variability, sampling design, operational costs, and logistical factors. The results from this initial 3-year effort should be used to refine this strategy, as needed.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Development of this protocol was funded by the National Park Service, Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network through a Cooperative Agreement with the Great Lakes Northern Forest Cooperative Ecosystem Studies Unit. The lead author (JGW) was supported in part by the University of Wisconsin System Distinguished Professors Program and the UW-L Foundation during the preparation of this document.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preface	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
List of Tables, Figures, and Appendices	vi
List of Standard Operating Procedures	vii
List of Abbreviations and Acronyms used in this Document	viii
REVISION HISTORY LOG	ix
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
1. BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES	2
1.1 Introduction	2
1.2 Goals and Objectives	3
1.3 Rationale for Monitoring Methylmercury and Bioaccumulative Organics	3
1.4 Biosentinel Organisms for Monitoring and Assessment	6
1.5 Monitoring and Assessment Questions	12
2. MONITORING AND ASSESSMENT STRATEGY	13
2.1 Sampling Design	14
2.2 Sampling Locations	14
2.3 Sample Size	16
2.4 Time and Frequency of Sampling	16
2.5 Level of Change that can be Detected	17
2.6 Guidelines for Determining Management Concerns	17
3. OVERVIEW OF SAMPLING AND ANALYTICAL METHODS	18
3.1 Field Season Preparations	19
3.2 Field Measurements and Sampling	19
3.3 Sample Storage	20
3.4 Preparation and Analysis of Samples	20
4. DATA HANDLING, ANALYSIS, AND REPORTING	22
4.1 Metadata Procedures	22
4.2 Overview of Database Design	23
4.3 Data Entry, Verification, and Editing	23
4.4 Data Archival Procedures	24

4.5 Quality Assurance and Quality Control for Data Management	24
4.6 Routine Data Summaries.	
4.7 Methods for Analyses of Spatial and Trend Data	
4.8 Reporting Schedule	
4.9 Report Format	27
5. PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS AND TRAINING	27
5.1 Roles and Responsibilities	27
5.2 Crew Qualifications	
5.3 Training Procedures	
6. OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS	29
6.1 Annual Work Load and Schedule	29
6.2 Facility and Major Equipment Needs	
6.3 Startup Costs	
6.4 Total Annual Budget	
7. REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	45

LIST OF TABLES, FIGURES, AND APPENDICES

Table		Page
1	Original publication name, version and date: Protocol for monitoring and assessing methylmercury and bioaccumulative organic contaminants in aquatic food webs	ix
2	Temporal and spatial variations in mean concentrations of mercury (Hg) in small yellow perch in Voyageurs National Park	13
3	Proposed schedules and water bodies to be included in sampling of aquatic biosentinel organisms	15
4	Summary of quality assurance and quality control procedures applied in the management of monitoring data at the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network	25
5	Total start-up costs for training to sample, identify, process, and analyze biosentinel organisms from parks of the Great Lakes Network	31
6	Estimated costs of equipment and supplies for sampling and analysis of biosentinel organisms for mercury and bioaccumulative organic contaminants at six park units in the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network	32
7	Estimated annual budget during Years 1 and 2 for monitoring and inventory of mercury and bioaccumulative organic contaminants at six park units in the Great Lakes Network, excluding costs of the Program Coordinator, Data Manager, and contractual analysis of organic contaminants in fish.	33
8	Estimated total cost for monitoring and inventory of mercury and bioaccumulative organic contaminants at six park units in the Great Lakes Network, during the first 3 years of the project (2008-2010)	34
Figure		
1	Relation between estimated concentrations of total mercury (HgT) in axial muscle of 55-cm northern pike and whole age-1 yellow perch from interior lakes in Voyageurs National Park	8
2	Species richness by Family among dragonflies found in the nine National Park Service units of the Great Lakes Monitoring and Inventory Network	9
3	Relation between concentrations of total mercury (HgT) in axial muscle of 55-cm northern pike and methylmercury (MeHg) in whole larvae of the horned clubtail dragonfly (<i>Arigomphus cornutus</i>) from interior lakes in Voyageurs National Park	11
Appendix		
1	Dragonfly species recorded for the nine National Park Service units in the Great Lakes Monitoring and Inventory Network	45
2	Statistical considerations pertaining to sampling design	49

LIST OF STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES (SOP)

- SOP 1: Revising the protocol
- SOP 2: Sampling and processing of prey fish
- SOP 3: Sampling and processing of larval dragonflies
- SOP 4: Analysis of prey fish for total mercury
- SOP 5: Analysis of larval dragonflies and prey fish for methylmercury
- SOP 6: Quality assurance and quality control for mercury determinations
- SOP 7: Sampling and processing of predatory fish for bioaccumulative organic contaminants
- SOP 8: Contractual analysis and quality assurance procedures for determination of organic contaminants in predatory fish
- SOP 9: Data entry and management
- SOP 10: Pre-season preparations for biological sampling at park units, including checklists (sampling permits, supplies, maps, and equipment), logistic and travel preparations, and equipment calibrations
- SOP 11: Safety procedures and emergency contacts during sampling at park units, including contacts for each park and employee form for information on personal medical issues, next-of-kin and emergency contacts

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS USED IN THIS DOCUMENT

Park Units	
APIS	Apostle Islands National Lakeshore
GLKN	Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network
GRPO	Grand Portage National Monument
INDU	Indiana Dunes National Lakeshore
ISRO	Isle Royale National Park
MISS	Mississippi National River and Recreation Area
PIRO	Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore
SLBE	Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore
SACN	St. Croix National Scenic Riverway
VOYA	Voyageurs National Park

Others

DDT	dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane
DOC	dissolved organic carbon
Hg	mercury
MeHg	methylmercury
NPS	National Park Service
PCB	polychlorinated biphenyl
PBDE	polybrominated diphenyl ethers
PFOS	perfluorooctanesulfonates
PFOA	perfluorooctanoic acid
SOP	standard operating procedure
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
YOY	young of the year

REVISION HISTORY LOG

The following table lists all edits and amendments to this document since the original date of publication. Information entered in the log must be complete and concise. Users of this protocol and attached standard operating procedures should promptly notify the project leader or the data manager about recommended and required changes. The project leader must review and incorporate all changes, complete the revision history log, and change the date and version number on the title page and in the header of the document file. For complete instructions, please refer to SOP 1 (Revising the protocol).

Table 1. Original Publication Name, Version and Date: Protocol for Monitoring and AssessingMethylmercury and Bioaccumulative Organic Contaminants in Aquatic Food Webs (Version 1.0,April 18, 2008)

Date and Number of Previous Version	Date of Revision	Author(s) of Revision (with title and affiliation)	Location in Document and Concise Description of Revision	Reason for Change
Add rows as needed for each change or set of changes tied to an updated version number				

PROTOCOL FOR MONITORING AND ASSESSING METHYLMERCURY AND BIOACCUMULATIVE ORGANIC CONTAMINANTS IN AQUATIC FOOD WEBS

Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network Technical Report Number GLKN/2008/ Second Preliminary Draft of Version 1.0 (March 2008)

Prepared by

James Wiener, Roger Haro, Kristofer Rolfhus, Mark Sandheinrich, and Bill Route

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This protocol provides a framework for monitoring and assessing spatial patterns and temporal trends in methylmercury and organic contaminants in aquatic food webs in six park units within the National Park Service Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network (GLKN). Methylmercury and certain persistent organic contaminants readily bioaccumulate and can biomagnify to concentrations that can adversely affect the health and reproduction of organisms atop aquatic food webs, which are the key pathways for exposure of humans and wildlife to these compounds. Concentrations of methylmercury and certain bioaccumulative organic contaminants in fish are elevated across parts of the Great Lakes region, and concentrations of methylmercury commonly exceed federal, state, and tribal criteria established for the protection of human health. This protocol, together with a companion protocol for monitoring bioaccumulative contaminants in nestling bald eagles (Route et al. 2008), supports contaminant monitoring in all nine park units of the Network.

The monitoring and assessment approach involves the sampling and analysis of biosentinel organisms to assess spatial and temporal patterns in contamination of aquatic food webs. For methylmercury, we will target 1-year-old prey fish, with yellow perch (Perca flavescens) as our biosentinel organism of choice. Other species, including green sunfish (Lepomis cyanellus) and larval dragonflies (Insecta: Odonata), will be sampled at sites where yellow perch are unavailable. We will target adult northern pike (Esox lucius) as the biosentinel of choice for organic contaminants, which include DDT, PCB, PBDE, PFOS, and PFOA. Sampling will be done at sites where water quality is being monitored annually by GLKN, to facilitate the statistical analysis of contaminant data in relation to physicochemical and landscape metrics of surface waters and watersheds, to strengthen interpretation, and to develop predictive models. Information from the mercury analyses can be used to identify locations on the landscape characterized by concentrations of methylmercury in biota that exceed criteria for protection of human health or wildlife. Moreover, the analysis of spatial and temporal patterns in concentrations of methylmercury and organic contaminants in biosentinel organisms is an important step in identifying landscape, aquatic, and human factors that control the abundance of these contaminants and the associated exposure of biota within park units.

1. BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES

1.1 INTRODUCTION

The National Park Service (NPS) has instituted a program to inventory and monitor natural resources at approximately 270 NPS units (parks) across the nation (Fancy 2004). The program is being implemented by forming 32 "Networks" of parks that share common management concerns and geography. The Great Lakes Network (GLKN) includes nine parks in four states surrounding the western Great Lakes. These include the Apostle Islands National Lakeshore (APIS), Grand Portage National Monument (GRPO), Indiana Dunes National Lakeshore (INDU), Isle Royale National Park (ISRO), Mississippi National River and Recreation Area (MISS), Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore (PIRO), Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore (SLBE), St. Croix National Scenic Riverway (SACN), and Voyageurs National Park (VOYA).

The purpose of the NPS national inventory and monitoring program is to identify and monitor ecological indicators, referred to as "Vital Signs" of park ecosystem health. Vital Signs are a select group of attributes that are particularly rich in information needed for understanding and managing NPS areas. The Great Lakes Network has developed a guiding document that provides the goals, ecological context, the selected Vital Signs, and an implementation schedule for the program (Route and Elias 2007).

One of the Vital Signs identified for parks in the Great Lakes Network is Trophic Bioaccumulation, or the bioaccumulation of contaminants that biomagnify in food webs, are highly toxic, and constitute a threat to organisms in upper trophic levels. Methylmercury and certain persistent organic contaminants readily bioaccumulate in exposed organisms and can biomagnify to concentrations in upper trophic levels that can adversely affect the health and reproduction of organisms atop aquatic food webs (Wiener et al. 2003, Scheuhammer et al. 2007). High concentrations of methylmercury have been widely reported in fish and aquatic wildlife inhabiting inland waters within the Great Lakes region (Grieb et al. 1990, Meyer et al. 1998, Wiener et al. 2006, Rasmussen et al. 2007).

This protocol and the associated standard operating procedures (SOPs) provide the rationale and methods for assessing and monitoring methylmercury and organic contaminants in aquatic food webs of six park units in the Great Lakes Network (GRPO, INDU, ISRO, PIRO, SLBE, and VOYA). This is one of two protocols developed to assess trophic bioaccumulation in the Network, given that Route, Bowerman, and Kozie (2008) have developed and implemented a protocol for monitoring bioaccumulative contaminants in nestling bald eagles at three park units (APIS, MISS, and SACN). Together, the two protocols provide contaminant monitoring across the nine park units of the Great Lakes Network.

1.2 GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

This monitoring and assessment protocol provides a framework for obtaining data that will provide park managers with information on the spatial patterns, temporal trends, and potential ecotoxicological significance of methylmercury and selected bioaccumulative organic contaminants in aquatic ecosystems of park units in the Great Lakes Network. The sampling and analysis of aquatic biosentinel organisms, as outlined in this protocol, will address the following specific objectives.

Objective 1: To assess spatial patterns in contamination of aquatic food webs in parks of the Great Lakes Network.

Objective 2: To identify parks and surface waters within the Great Lakes Network where concentrations of methylmercury or bioaccumulative organic contaminants in aquatic food webs may pose a risk to organisms atop aquatic food webs.

Objective 3: To evaluate temporal trends in contamination of aquatic food webs in parks of the Great Lakes Network.

1.3 RATIONALE FOR MONITORING METHYLMERCURY AND BIOACCUMULATIVE ORGANICS IN AQUATIC FOOD WEBS

Methylmercury is a bioaccumulative toxic compound that can biomagnify to high, sometimes harmful, concentrations in organisms in upper trophic levels (Wiener et al. 2003, Scheuhammer et al. 2007). Atmospheric deposition is the primary source of the mercury accumulating in watersheds and surface waters in the Great Lakes region, and analyses of sediment cores from lakes in this and other regions have conclusively shown that most (~70%) of this atmospherically deposited mercury is derived from anthropogenic sources (Swain et al. 1992, Engstrom and Swain 1997, Lockhart et al. 1998, Lorey and Driscoll 1999, Lamborg et al. 2002, Wiener et al. 2006, Engstrom et al. 2007). In addition, a growing body of evidence indicates that atmospheric deposition is the primary source of mercury accumulating as methylmercury in aquatic food webs and fish in lakes (Fitzgerald et al. 1998, Wiener et al. 2006, Orihel et al. 2007, Munthe et al. 2007, Harris et al. 2007).

Concentrations of methylmercury and some bioaccumulative organic contaminants in predatory fish from many water bodies in the United States and Canada, including the Great Lakes region, exceed state, provincial, tribal, and federal criteria for the protection of human health (USEPA 2001*a*, 2005). In the United States, mercury was responsible for 76% of the 3,221 fish-consumption advisories posted in 2004, when 44 states, 1 territory, and 2 tribes had advisories attributed to mercury and more than 53,300 km² of lake area and 1,230,000 km of rivers were under advisory for mercury (USEPA 2005). In Canada, more than 97% (2,572) of all fish-consumption advisories listed in 1997 were attributed to mercury (USEPA 2001*a*). Seven states in the Great Lakes region have issued statewide fish-consumption advisories for mercury in lakes (Illinois, Indiana, Michigan, Minnesota, Ohio, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin), and five of these (Illinois,

Indiana, Ohio, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin) have statewide fish-consumption advisories for mercury in rivers (USEPA 2005). Thus, much of the Great Lakes region can be considered a mercury-sensitive landscape in which atmospheric deposition of mercury has led to high concentrations of methylmercury in predatory fish (e.g., Wiener et al. 2003). Two of the seven states in the Great Lakes region, Indiana and Minnesota, have issued statewide fish-consumption advisories for organic contaminants—both for PCBs (USEPA 2005)

Toxicological concerns about mercury pollution of aquatic ecosystems focus appropriately on methylmercury (Wiener et al. 2003, Scheuhammer et al. 2007). Although most of the mercury in atmospheric deposition exists as inorganic forms, nearly all of the mercury accumulated by fish and higher trophic levels is methylmercury (Grieb et al. 1990, Bloom 1992, Hammerschmidt et al. 1999). Methylmercury readily crosses external and internal biological membranes (Pickhardt et al. 2006), is eliminated slowly relative to its rate of uptake (Trudel and Rasmussen 1997, Van Walleghem et al. 2007), and accumulates to concentrations in aquatic organisms that vastly exceed those in surface water. In fish, for example, concentrations of methylmercury commonly exceed those in the water in which they reside by a factor of 10^6 to 10^7 or more (Wiener et al. 2003). Direct uptake from water is important for organisms, such as algae, in the lowest trophic levels (Pickhardt et al. 2002, Gorski et al. 2006), whereas aquatic organisms, such as fish, in upper trophic levels obtain methylmercury almost entirely from the diet (Rodgers 1994, Hall et al. 1997, Harris and Bodaly 1998). The concentration of methylmercury increases up the food web from water and lower trophic levels to fish and piscivores, and the greatest increase in concentration occurs in the trophic step between water and algae (Wiener et al. 2003). In contrast to methylmercury, inorganic mercury in natural waters is not readily transferred through successive trophic levels and does not biomagnify in food webs (Watras et al. 1998, Pickhardt et al. 2002).

In a toxicological sense, the primary problem with mercury in aquatic ecosystems results from *biotic exposure to methylmercury* (Wiener et al. 2003). Aquatic food webs are the primary pathway for exposure of humans and wildlife to methylmercury (National Research Council 2000, Wiener et al. 2003, Mergler et al. 2007, Scheuhammer et al. 2007). Processes that affect the mass of methylmercury in aquatic ecosystems or its concentration at the base of the aquatic food web strongly affect its concentration in all trophic levels, including predatory fish and wildlife (Paterson et al. 1998, Benoit et al. 2003, Wiener et al. 2003). The production of methylmercury via the microbial methylation of inorganic Hg(II) by sulfate-reducing bacteria is a key process affecting concentrations of methylmercury in organisms of all trophic levels (Benoit et al. 2003). Anaerobic zones in sediments and wetlands are widely considered the most important sites of microbial methylation, and a water body can receive methylmercury from both internal and external sites (Watras et al. 1994, Hurley et al. 1995, St. Louis et al. 1996, Sellers et al. 2001).

Methylmercury is highly neurotoxic, adversely affecting both the adult and developing brain (Clarkson and Magos 2006). In birds and mammals, methylmercury from reproducing females readily passes to the developing egg or embryo, life stages that are

much more sensitive than the adult to methylmercury exposure (Wolfe et al. 1998, Wiener et al. 2003). In birds, for example, the dietary concentrations of methylmercury that significantly impair reproduction are only one-fifth those that produce overt toxicity in the adult (Scheuhammer 1991). Reproductive impairment has been associated with methylmercury exposure in field studies of several aquatic and marsh birds (Wiener et al. 2003, Heath and Frederick 2005, Schwarzbach et al. 2006, Scheuhammer et al. 2007, Evers et al. 2008, Burgess and Meyer 2008). In laboratory experiments with birds and mammals, methylmercury adversely affects reproductive success, behavior, cellular development, and adult survival, and causes teratogenic effects (Meyer et al. 1998, Wolfe et al. 1998, Wiener et al. 2003, Scheuhammer et al. 2007). Recent experiments and field studies have also shown that exposure of fish to environmentally realistic concentrations of methylmercury can adversely affect foraging efficiency, gene expression, metabolism, reproduction, and health (Field et al. 1998, Latif et al. 2001, Hammerschmidt et al. 2002, Drevnick and Sandheinrich 2003, Moran et al. 2007, Larose et al. 2008). Diminished reproductive success could have adverse population-level consequences for fish and wildlife species exposed to methylmercury.

It would be prohibitively expensive to monitor the hundreds of contaminants that are present within water and park units of the Great Lakes Network. Route et al. (2008) used the following four criteria to identify and select specific pollutants for inclusion in trophic bioaccumulation protocols for the Network.

- 1) Contaminants that persist in the environment and bioaccumulate in fish and wildlife;
- 2) Contaminants that have caused a park water body to be listed as polluted under section 303(d) of the federal Water Quality Act (e.g., contaminants that have prompted a fish-consumption advisory);
- 3) Contaminants listed as a Level I Substance in Appendix I of the Great Lakes Binational Toxics Strategy (for those parks on the Great Lakes); and
- 4) Contaminants identified by state and federal authorities as a new and emerging chemicals of concern.

Based on these criteria, the following contaminants were selected for initial analysis in this protocol.

MeHg (methylmercury) Alkyl-lead DDT (dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane and derivatives) Dioxins PCBs (polychlorinated biphenyl) PFOS (perfluorooctanesulfonates) PFOA (perfluorooctanoic acid) PBDE (polybrominated diphenyl ethers)

We will examine the concentrations of the organic contaminants during pilot work in 2008, and apply data from this initial sampling, as well as information emanating from

new assessments of new and emerging contaminants from other programs, to identify analytes for future sampling.

1.4 BIOSENTINEL ORGANISMS FOR MONITORING AND ASSESSMENT

The monitoring and assessment approach outlined in this protocol recommends the analysis of biosentinel organisms to identify spatial and temporal patterns in the contamination of aquatic food webs. For mercury, the protocol focuses on two groups of biosentinel organisms, small prey fish (often termed "forage fish") and larval dragonflies, which are widely distributed in aquatic habitats in parks within the Great Lakes Network. These biosentinels are considered relevant, useful, and sufficiently diagnostic to detect spatio-temporal variations in the concentration of mercury, based on published guidelines pertaining to aquatic biological indicators of methylmercury contamination (Wiener et al. 2007). For organic contaminants, we will target adult northern pike (*Esox lucius*) as the biosentinel organism of choice.

Biosentinels for Methylmercury

Prev Fish. Prev fish are here defined as small finfish that are consumed whole by predatory fish and aquatic wildlife, such as common loons (Gavia immer). One-year-old prey fish are the primary target biosentinel organism for this protocol, and 1-year-old yellow perch (Perca flavescens) is the preferred target prey fish for parks in the Great Lakes Network. The advantages and rationale for the use of small prey fish as biosentinels in aquatic monitoring and assessment programs for mercury and other bioaccumulative contaminants have been discussed in detail (Yeardley 2000, Lazorchak et al. 2003, Wiener et al. 2007, Choy et al. 2008). To summarize, prey fish are widely distributed, common, and important in the transfer of methylmercury to organisms in higher trophic levels, such as piscivorous fish and many fish-eating birds. Moreover, methylmercury concentrations in prey fish of uniform age are much less susceptible to certain, potential confounding factors, such as variation in trophic position, than are concentrations in long-lived, piscivorous fish. The mean concentration of total mercury in prey fish is a useful indicator of methylmercury contamination in food webs supporting the production of sport fish and wildlife. Thus, the analysis of prey fish provides information relevant to the public and the policy community, as well as park managers. The effects of removal sampling of prev fish on target fish populations would be insignificant in all but the very smallest water bodies.

The analysis of whole prey fish provides ecologically relevant data on whole-body concentration and burden. Mercury *burden*, defined as the total mass of mercury accumulated in a whole fish, is calculated as the product of body weight and whole-body concentration. In age-1 prey fish, burden is an ecologically relevant measure of bioaccumulation, representing the mass of methylmercury accumulated by a fish during its year of residence in the sampled water body. The burden also represents the mass of mercury that a predator would ingest when eating the prey fish. Prey fish should be analyzed individually, and ancillary measurements include the total length (to nearest

millimeter), fresh weight (to 0.01 g), and age of individual fish. Age can be estimated by examination of scales or other bony structures (DeVries and Frie 1996).

Preferred biosentinel: 1-year-old yellow perch. Analyses of total mercury in whole age-1 yellow perch has provided a useful measure of methylmercury concentrations in food webs of many North American waters. This species is generally present and abundant in lentic waters within the Great Lakes region (Wiener and Eilers 1987, Kallemeyn 2000, Kallemeyn et al. 2003), and its geographic distribution extends across much of the north-central, northeastern, and eastern United States, as well as the central and eastern provinces of Canada (Scott and Crossman 1973, Becker 1983). During their first year, yellow perch have a small gape (jaw opening), which limits their diet largely to small zooplankton and small zoobenthos (Roseman et al. 1996, Lyons et al. 2000). Thus the trophic position of age-1 yellow perch is not expected to vary substantially among aquatic sites. The yellow perch is a preferred prey of certain piscivores, such as walleve (Sander vitreus), northern pike, and common loons, and is therefore an important link in the food-web transfer of methylmercury (Colby et al. 1979, Barr 1996). Concentrations of total mercury in small yellow perch are strongly and positively correlated with concentrations in co-existing piscivorous fish, including walleye, black bass (Micropterus spp.), and northern pike (Cope et al. 1990, Suns et al. 1987). In Voyageurs National Park, for example, concentrations of mercury in the axial muscle tissue of northern pike are strongly correlated with those in co-existing 1-year-old yellow perch (Figure 1). Moreover, statistical analyses have shown strong relations between the total-mercury concentration in age-1 or young-of-the-year yellow perch and ecosystem characteristics (e.g., lake chemistry, wetland influence) or perturbations (e.g., water-level fluctuations, experimental acidification) that are known to influence the production of methylmercury and its abundance in aquatic food webs (Suns and Hitchin 1990, Grieb et al. 1990, Wiener et al. 1990, Simonin et al. 1994, Frost et al. 1999, Sorensen et al. 2005, Wiener et al. 2003, 2006). Substantial recent data on mercury concentrations in yellow perch (including age-1 and young-of-the-year fish) are available for inland lakes in Isle Royal National Park (Gorski et al. 2003) and Voyageurs National Park (Sorensen et al. 2005, Wiener et al. 2006). Recent data from these two parks are also available on mercury in larger yellow perch and northern pike (Kallemeyn 2000, Gorski et al. 2003, Knights et al. 2005, Drevnick et al. 2007, Mark B. Sandheinrich, University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, unpublished data), a widespread, largely piscivorous fish that feeds heavily on yellow perch.

One-year-old yellow perch can be readily sampled in spring with portable, active or passive gears fished in littoral habitat without significantly affecting their abundance or year-class strength. Age-1 yellow perch sampled in spring have resided in the sampled water body for about 1 year. The age of small yellow perch can be accurately determined by examining scales taken near the area of insertion of the left pectoral fin (DeVries and Frie 1996).



Figure 1. Relation between estimated concentrations of total mercury (HgT) in axial muscle of 55-cm northern pike and whole age-1 yellow perch from interior lakes in Voyageurs National Park. Data points for individual lakes are plotted by two-letter lake identification code (from Knights et al. 2005).

Other (alternative) prey fish. If attempts to obtain small yellow perch from a given water body are unsuccessful, other prey fishes should be sampled and retained for possible analysis. Other prey fish species that are generally widespread and often abundant in waters of the Great Lakes region include members of the centrarchid (sunfishes), cyprinid (minnows, shiners, and daces), and percid (perch and darters) families. Target alternative prey fishes include green sunfish (*Lepomis cyanellus*), pumpkinseed (*Lepomis gibbosus*), bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*), blacknose shiner (*Notropis heterolepis*), finescale dace (*Phoxinus neogaeus*), northern redbelly dace (*Phoxinus eos*), Johnny darter (*Etheostoma nigrum*), and Iowa darter (*Etheostoma exile*).

Larval dragonflies. Dragonflies (Ansioptera: Odonata) are a well known and conspicuous group of insects. Adults are relatively long-lived and display great agility in flight. Larval dragonflies are present in a wide variety of freshwater ecosystems. Compilation of county records from the North American Odonate Database, which is maintained by the Dragonfly Society of the Americas (Abbott 2007), indicate that 116 species have been documented in one or more of the counties where the nine park units in the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network are located (Appendix 1). The Libellulidae and Gomphidae are expected to be the most diverse families of dragonflies (in number of species) in Network parks (Figure 2). Two aeshnid species (*Aeshna canadensis* and *A. umbrosa*) and three libellulid species (*Libellula quadrimaculata*, *Sympetrum costiferum*, and *S. obtrusum*) are ubiquitous across all nine park units. About one-fourth (27%) of the species in the assemblage probably occur in only one or two of the nine park units.

Several dragonflies in the Great Lakes region have special conservation status. One species, the Hine's Emerald (*Somatochlora hineana*), is federally listed as endangered throughout its range (IL, IN, OH, and WI) (Anonymous 2007). The Hine's Emerald is known to occur in only one (INDU) of the nine park units (Appendix 1). Five other species are currently listed as threatened or endangered by the State of Wisconsin. These include *Ophiogomphus anomalus*, *O. howei*, *O. susbehcha*, *Rhionaeschna mutate*, and *Somatochlora incurvata*. These species have limited ranges, each being restricted to just one or two park units (Appendix 1).





The ecology of larval dragonflies is well documented at the genus level (Tennessen 2007), yet there is a need for species-level information on life history and habitat requirements. All larval dragonflies are obligate, generalist predators. However, the type of prey encountered and their diet is a function of habitat preference and mode of habit (i.e., burrowing, climbing, or sprawling). For example, species in the families Gomphidae and Cordulegastridae are primarily burrowers that feed on benthic macroinvertebrates. Species in the family Aeshnidae are climbers that cling to vertical portions of aquatic vegetation and feed on macroinvertebrates, including zooplankton, that inhabit the water column. These differences are probably important in defining pathways for dietary methylmercury uptake (Tremblay et al. 1996).

The structure of the dragonfly assemblage in a particular body of water is greatly affected by disturbance (hydroperiod) and by the presence or absence of fish. Wellborn et al. (1996) showed how hydroperiod regulates fish distribution among lentic ecosystems,

which, in turn, can constrain dragonfly species composition in terms of life history and behavior (i.e., activity pattern). For example, ponds inhabited by fish tend to be dominated by dragonfly species that grow rapidly, possess small terminal body size, and forage via sit-and-wait strategies. Permanent aquatic ecosystems without fish possess large-bodied, long-lived dragonfly larvae that are more prone to be active hunters.

Larval dragonflies have been used as sentinel organisms (Johnson et al. 1993) to detect and monitor heavy metal pollution in a number of freshwater ecosystems. Several characteristics and factors contribute to their usefulness as biosentinels, including the following.

- 1. All species are obligate predators and as such, bioaccumulate methylmercury.
- 2. They persist and reproduce in low to moderately contaminated ecosystems.
- 3. Larvae are restricted to the ecosystems in which they were hatched.
- 4. Individuals of most species are large enough to provide adequate tissue for whole-body analysis of methylmercury.
- 5. Many species are ubiquitous across ecosystems at the regional level.
- 6. Most species in the western Great Lakes region are long-lived (i.e., semi- or mero-voltine).
- 7. Larvae can be readily collected with simple, inexpensive sampling gear.
- 8. Larvae are robust enough for laboratory and field handling, and most mature larvae can be taxonomically identified to species level.

Analysis of dragonfly larvae from interior lakes in Voyageurs National Park indicates that the mean methylmercury concentration in the larval gomphid dragonfly *Arigomphus cornutus* (commonly known as the horned clubtail) is correlated with the concentration in coexisting predatory fish (Knights et al. 2005). In the summer of 2002 and 2003, larval *A. cornutus* were collected in 10 of 13 VOYA lakes sampled by the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse and US Geological Survey. Methylmercury concentrations in this species were significantly correlated with concentrations of total mercury in coexisting northern pike (Figure 3). *Arigomphus cornutus* currently occurs in five of the nine park units in the Great Lakes Network (Appendix 1). Larvae of this species burrow in silt and are found in both lentic littoral and lotic depositional habitats (Tennessen 2007). Adults typically emerge in early June and are often found around small to medium size streams with marshy or boggy edges through late July (Mead 2003).



Figure 3. Relation between concentrations of total mercury (HgT) in axial muscle of 55-cm northern pike and methylmercury (MeHg) in whole larvae of the horned clubtail dragonfly (*Arigomphus cornutus*) from interior lakes in Voyageurs National Park. Data points for individual lakes are plotted by two-letter lake identification code (from Knights et al. 2005).

Biosentinels for Organic Contaminants

Adult northern pike. Northern pike are widely distributed and often abundant in inland lakes, rivers, and streams of the Great Lakes region (Wiener and Eilers 1987, Kallemeyn 2000, Kallemeyn et al. 2003). Moreover, the geographic distribution of northern pike in the northern hemisphere is circumpolar, extending across Russia, Scandinavia, Norway, Europe, and the British Isles (Scott and Crossman 1973). Northern pike, which are largely piscivorous as adults, are a popular sport fish in inland waters of the Great Lakes region and caught fish are often eaten. The analysis of organic contaminants in edible fillets of northern pike will, therefore, provide information useful to state agencies for risk assessment and possible issuance of fish-consumption advice for the species and sampled surface waters. Northern pike can be readily sampled by angling, electrofishing, and gill netting.

If attempts to obtain adult northern pike from a given water body are unsuccessful, we will attempt to obtain another species of predatory fish from that water body for analysis of organic contaminants. Other predatory fish species that could be sampled and analyzed in place of northern pike include grass pickerel (*Esox americanus*), walleye (*Sander vitreus*), smallmouth bass (*Micropterus dolomieu*), and largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*).

1.5 MONITORING AND ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS

The following questions emanate from the monitoring and assessment objectives listed in Section 1.2 (Goals and Objectives) of this protocol and from questions frequently raised in our communications with managers of federal lands and natural resources.

- 1. What are the spatial patterns in contamination of aquatic food webs in parks of the Great Lakes Network?
- 2. Which park units and surface waters within the Great Lakes Network have concentrations of methylmercury or organic contaminants in aquatic food webs high enough to pose a risk to humans and other organisms in upper trophic levels?
- 3. What is the general direction and magnitude of change in the concentration of methylmercury and organic contaminants in aquatic food webs in parks of the Great Lakes Network?

For mercury, the first two questions are closely related to the identification of *biological mercury hotspots*, which Driscoll et al. (2007) defined as locations on the landscape that, compared with the surrounding landscape, are characterized by elevated concentrations of methylmercury in biota that exceed criteria for protection of human health or wildlife, as determined by a statistically adequate sample size. The analysis of spatial and temporal patterns in methylmercury concentrations in biosentinel organisms is an important first step in the identification of watershed, aquatic, and human factors that control or influence the abundance of methylmercury and the associated exposure of biota within the park units.

Two recent studies, both in Voyageurs National Park, illustrate the utility of small yellow perch as bioindicators of methylmercury in aquatic food webs (Table 2). Wiener et al. (2006), who analyzed 1-year-old yellow perch from 17 interior lakes, found that spatial variation in the mean concentration of mercury was strongly related to lacustrine and watershed variables known to affect the microbial production and abundance of methylmercury. These variables included pH, dissolved sulfate, and total organic carbon in lake water (an indicator of wetland influence). Sorensen et al. (2005), who analyzed young-of-the-year (YOY) yellow perch sampled from Sand Point Lake during 1991-2003, showed that temporal variation in mean concentration was strongly correlated with maximum water level (r = 0.80, p < 0.01) and with change in maximum water level from March to July (r = 0.86, p < 0.01). Moreover, their data for Secchi disk visibility and color of lake water strongly suggest that inputs of dissolved organic matter (and associated inorganic mercury and methylmercury) increased concomitantly with increasing maximum water level, which is an indicator of inundated land area in the watershed.

Source of variation examined	Biosentinel fish	Data set	Mean con (ng Hg/g <i>median</i>	centration g wet wt) <i>range</i>	Reference
Spatial (lake and watershed factors)	1-year-old perch, sampled in May	17 interior lakes (sampled in 2001-2003)	107	38-180	Wiener et al. 2006
Temporal (water- level fluctuation)	YOY perch, sampled in late Sept or Oct	Sand Point Lake (12 annual samples during 1991-2003)	~90	32-200	Sorensen et al. 2005

Table 2. Temporal and spatial variations in mean concentrations of mercury (Hg) in small yellow perch in Voyageurs National Park.

Many factors can strongly influence the concentrations of methylmercury in biota, and the interpretation of spatiotemporal patterns in biosentinel data will be enhanced by consideration of relevant information on the sampled surface waters and their watersheds (for a review, see Wiener et al. 2007). Important atmospheric metrics for monitored parks include deposition of total mercury and sulfate, and annual rainfall. Data on sulfate and total mercury in wet deposition are available from the National Atmospheric Deposition Program and the Mercury Deposition Network, respectively. Watershed metrics include total watershed area and land cover, particularly the abundance of hydrologically connected wetlands. Useful metrics for lentic systems include morphometry (area, maximum depth, mean depth, percent littoral area), water-level fluctuations, depth profiles of temperature and dissolved oxygen during summer, and hydrologic type (e.g., seepage or drainage lake). Useful physicochemical metrics for water include dissolved organic carbon or color, pH, sulfate, chlorophyll, acid neutralizing capacity, phosphorus, and Secchi disk depth.

Many of these physicochemical and morphometric parameters are being monitored annually in selected water bodies in park units of the Great Lakes Network (Elias et al. 2007). To the extent feasible, the sampling sites in this protocol will be co-located with sampling sites being monitored by the Great Lakes Network's water quality monitoring program.

2. MONITORING AND ASSESSMENT STRATEGY

This protocol provides a framework for monitoring and assessing spatial patterns and temporal trends in methylmercury and organic contaminants in aquatic food webs in six park units within the National Park Service Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network (GRPO, INDU, ISRO, PIRO, SLBE, and VOYA). This is one of two protocols developed to assess trophic bioaccumulation in the Network; Route et al. (2008) have developed and implemented a protocol for monitoring bioaccumulative contaminants in nestling bald eagles at the other three park units (APIS, MISS, and SACN) in the Network. Collectively, the two protocols provide monitoring of bioaccumulative contaminants in all nine park units within the Great Lakes Network.

This protocol contains two study components: (1) spatial analysis and (2) trend analysis. The spatial analysis, which addresses Objectives 1 and 2 (section 1.2), will assess spatial patterns in methylmercury and organic contaminants in aquatic food webs to identify parks and surface waters within the Great Lakes Network where exposure may pose a risk to biota. The trend analysis, which addresses Objective 3 (section 1.2), will examine temporal patterns in methylmercury and organic contaminants in lacustrine food webs in the six parks. Reliable historical data on methylmercury in fish, including small yellow perch, are available for two of the six parks included in this protocol, ISRO (Gorski et al. 2003, Drevnick et al. 2007) and VOYA (Knights et al. 2005, Sorensen et al. 2005, Wiener et al. 2006). Inclusion of these historical data with the "new" data obtained in 2008-2010 via this protocol will extend the trend analysis for mercury for these two park units by several years preceding the implementation of this protocol. For example, 6 years of historical data on total mercury in age-1 yellow perch are available for Brown, Ryan, and Peary lakes at VOYA, providing a foundation for trend analysis of mercury in interior lakes in the park. These samples of age-1 yellow perch were collected in 2000-2001 and 2003-2006 and analyzed by the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse.

2.1 SAMPLING DESIGN

Aquatic biosentinel organisms will be sampled at all six park units during the first 2 years of this study (2008-2009). We will sample at INDU, PIRO, and SLBE in 2008, 2011, 2014, and 2017 and at GRPO, ISRO, and VOYA in 2009, 2012, 2015, and 2018. With this design, all six parks will be sampled once every 3 years. The first two years of each 3-year sampling rotation will be devoted to the collection and chemical analysis of samples. The third year of each 3-year sampling rotation will be devoted to completion of chemical analysis of samples, to statistical analysis of data, and to interpretation and reporting of results.

2.2 SAMPLING LOCATIONS

We propose to sample from two to (usually) four aquatic sites in each of the six park units (section 2.1) during the first two years of each 3-year sampling rotation. In general, the number of water bodies sampled will depend on the effort required to obtain target samples and on the availability of park unit personnel to assist in the field with transit of field crews and sampling.

Candidate sites for biosentinel sampling in each of the park units are listed in Table 3. The proposed list of sampling sites within each park unit can be modified and refined, as desirable and appropriate, to meet the following general goals: (1) to maximize spatial overlap between contaminant monitoring and water-quality monitoring by GLKN, (2) to incorporate input on site selection from park personnel, (3) to reduce logistical obstacles to sampling, and (4) to select study sites with available historical contaminant data and pertinent ancillary information on the biological, physical, and chemical characteristics of aquatic resources. Available information for lakes sampled by the GLKN water quality program include lake pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, Secchi disk visibility, major ions, nitrogen, phosphorus, bathymetry, hydrology, and landscape variables (drainage

area, forest type, and wetlands area). To strengthen and enhance the trend analysis of mercury data, sampling of age-1 yellow perch at ISRO and VOYA will focus on lakes with both water quality and recent historical data on mercury in age-1 perch.

Park unit*	Sample years	Candidate organism	Candidate sites	Comments
INDU	2008 2011 2014 2017	Hg: 1-year-old green sunfish and dragonfly larvae Organics: Grass pickerel	Long Lake Grand Marsh	Target green sunfish & dragonfly larvae from Long Lake, which is sampled by GLKN water quality program. Target dragonfly larvae & grass pickerel (<i>Esox</i> <i>americanus</i> , to be sampled in lieu of northern pike) from Grand Marsh.
SLBE	2008 2011 2014 2017	<i>Hg:</i> 1-year-old yellow perch and dragonfly larvae <i>Organics:</i> northern pike	Bass (Benzie Co., in south-central park) Bass (Leelanau Co., at north end of park) Manitou Lake Round Lake (at extreme southern end of park)	Manitou Lake (N. Manitou Island, access difficult) receives light fishing pressure, whereas Bass (Leelanau Co.), Bass (Benzie Co.) and Round lakes receive moderate to high fishing pressure. All four lakes are sampled by GLKN water quality program. We may also sample northern pike at Tucker Lake, which is contaminated by an old dump site.
PIRO	2008 2011 2014 2017	Hg: 1-year-old yellow perch and dragonfly larvae Organics: northern pike	Beaver Lake Chapel Lake Grand Sable Lake Miners Lakes	All four lakes are sampled by GLKN water quality program. Many waters at SLBE have high color & DOC, variables associated with high MeHg levels in biota. High Hg concentrations reported in piscivorous fish.
GRPO	2009 2012 2015 2018	<i>Hg:</i> Dragonfly larvae and small prey fish if available <i>Organics:</i> predatory fish if available	Snow Creek and either Grand Portage Creek or Poplar Creekstreams draining portions of the Grand Portage Highlands	GRPO has limited aquatic and fisheries resources (Lafrancois & Glase 2005), and sampling may need to focus on other biosentinel organisms. Snow Creek drains a wetland, a potential site of Hg methylation.
VOYA	2009 2012 2015 2018	<i>Hg:</i> 1-year-old yellow perch and dragonfly larvae <i>Organics:</i> northern pike	Brown Lake Ek Lake Peary Lake Ryan Lake	All four lakes are sampled by GLKN water quality program. Recent historical data on Hg in 1-year old yellow perch and northern pike are available from all four lakes.
ISRO	2009 2012 2015 2018	<i>Hg</i> : 1-year-old yellow perch and dragonfly larvae <i>Organics:</i> northern pike	Angleworm (or Eva) Harvey Richie Sargent	Recent historical fish-Hg data are available for all four lakes. P.E. Drevnick observed symptoms of Hg toxicity in northern pike from Angleworm Lake. Hg concentrations in northern pike from Eva Lake were the highest reported for 25 ISRO lakes by Kallemeyn (2000). Harvey, Richie, and Sargent lakes are being sampled by the GLKN water quality program.

Table 3. F	Proposed schedules,	candidate biosentine	l organisms, ar	nd candidate water	bodies to
be sample	d in the six park units	3.	-		

*GRPO = Grand Portage National Monument, INDU = Indiana Dunes National Lakeshore, ISRO = Isle Royale National Park, PIRO = Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, SLBE = Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, VOYA = Voyageurs National Park.

2.3 SAMPLE SIZE

Methylmercury. Individual analyses of 25 biosentinel organisms (prey fish or large larval dragonflies) from a given water body and year provides a sufficient sample size for a defensible statistical evaluation of either spatial or temporal patterns in mercury concentration (Appendix 2). Moreover, in most situations statistical power does not improve substantially if sample size is increased above 25. A detailed evaluation of statistical considerations pertaining to sampling design is presented in Appendix 2 of this protocol.

Organic Contaminants. To reduce the total cost of contractual analysis of samples, the determination of organic contaminants will be done on composite samples of axial muscle tissue of northern pike (or an alternative predatory species; see section 1.4, page 11). The composite sample for each sampled water body will contain equal masses of tissue from 8 individual fish of a single species that fall within a given total-length interval (e.g., 40-50 cm or 45-55 cm for northern pike). A composite sample will be analyzed from each of nine water bodies during each year of sampling. We will create a duplicate composite sample for one of the study sites for quality assurance purposes, yielding a total of 10 composite samples per year and 20 composite samples during each 3-year sampling rotation for analysis of organic contaminants.

2.4 TIME AND FREQUENCY OF SAMPLING

Time of Sampling. The size of young prey fish can vary seasonally because measurable growth occurs throughout much of the year. Small prey fish typically grow rapidly during the summer in temperate or southern boreal waters, increasing their biomass by 2- to 5-fold during the growing season. Mercury concentrations are usually increasing or stable during this period of growth; thus, the total body burden (mass) of mercury in individual fish increases substantially during summer (Bodaly and Fudge 1999, Gorski et al. 1999). We recommend that prey fish be sampled in spring (2 to 3 weeks after ice out), when growth is slow and temporal variation in mercury concentration is small, to obtain data that are temporally and spatially comparable. Sampling of larval dragonflies should also be done in spring (2 to 3 weeks after ice out), before the older, larger larvae transform and emerge as adults (see section 3.2).

Spatial Analysis. Sampling of biosentinel organisms will be done once at each of the seven park units during this study, with the proposed year of sampling in each park unit shown in Table 3.

2.5 LEVEL OF CHANGE THAT CAN BE DETECTED

For trend analysis of mercury in the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network, the proposed (*a priori*) objective for sampling design is a sampling program that will have an 80% probability of detecting a 20% change in mean mercury concentration over 10 years with a Type I error (α) of 0.10. Statistical considerations pertaining to sampling design, based largely on data sets for mercury in *adult* fish, indicate that the GLKN statistical design objectives would be difficult to achieve in a trend-analysis program for methylmercury in adult fishes (Appendix 2). Given conditions of small sampling variability and small analytical variability, the smallest annual change in log mercury concentration that may be detected in adult fish is estimated to be 3.9% (Appendix 2). The use of biosentinel organisms, such as small prey fish of uniform age (1 year), should significantly enhance our ability to statistically detect spatial and temporal patterns in methylmercury concentration. During the experimental acidification of Little Rock Lake (Wisconsin), for example, annual sampling and analysis of 30 age-1 yellow perch allowed statistical detection ($\alpha = 0.05$) of treatment effects on mercury concentration as low as 12% between the treatment and reference basins (Wiener et al. 1990).

2.6 GUIDELINES FOR DETERMINING MANAGEMENT CONCERNS

This assessment and monitoring effort is designed to document spatial and temporal patterns in mercury concentrations in selected biosentinel organisms, providing an indicator of methylmercury contamination of aquatic food webs--the primary pathway for exposure to methylmercury. The first 3 years of this study were not intended to examine effects of methylmercury exposure on wildlife or humans in the parks. However, we will compare the concentrations of methylmercury in biosentinel organisms to estimated threshold values in published field and laboratory studies in which cause-effect relations have been documented. We will maintain an awareness of new toxicological findings, standards, and criteria for methylmercury that emanate from scientific and governmental institutions in the US and Canada, and apply such information to the interpretation of findings in reports to park managers.

Wildlife Health. There is no single tissue residue criterion for methylmercury established to protect the health of piscivorous fish and wildlife. However, evidence from laboratory and field studies is sufficient to indicate that dietary methylmercury concentrations exceeding 0.3 mg/kg wet weight negatively affect both birds and mammals. Kenow et al. (2007), for example, reported that dietary concentrations of 0.4 mg/kg reduced the immune response of common loon chicks by 58%. In nestling great egrets, dietary methylmercury of 0.5 mg/kg altered behavior (Bouton et al. 1999), food consumption and growth (Spalding et al. 2000*a*), blood and organ biochemistry (Hoffman et al. 2005), and organ histology (Spalding et al. 2000*b*). In nestling snowy egrets, dietary concentrations of 0.39 mg/kg altered protein metabolism (Shaw-Allen et al. 2005). Basu et al. (2007) found that levels of neuroreceptors in the brain of wild mink were negatively correlated with the concentration of methylmercury in the brain. A subsequent dosing study in the laboratory corroborated the conclusions that methylmercury was the cause of the reduction in neuroreceptor density and showed that

dietary methylmercury as low as 0.1 mg/kg significantly reduced the level of neuroreceptors in the brain of mink.

Human Health. The US Environmental Protection Agency's Tissue Residue Criterion for methylmercury, established to protect the health of humans who eat noncommercial fish, is 0.3 mg/kg (parts per million) wet weight (Borum et al. 2001). Nearly all of the mercury present in the skeletal muscle of fish is methylmercury (Bloom 1992), and measurement of total mercury in the axial muscle of fish provides a valid estimate of methylmercury concentration (Wiener et al. 2007).

The concentration of total mercury in age-1 yellow perch, our preferred biosentinel organism, provides a useful predictor of mercury concentrations in the edible filets of predatory game fish, such as northern pike (Figure 1). The linear regression of total mercury concentration (wet weight) in axial muscle of 55-cm northern pike (~1 kg fish) against the mean wet-weight concentration of total mercury in coexisting whole, age-1 yellow perch in 14 interior lakes in Voyageurs National Park yielded the following equation.

$$Hg_{np} = -37 + 9.02 Hg_{vp}$$

where Hg_{np} is the concentration of methylmercury in 55-cm northern pike in ng/g (parts per billion) wet weight, and Hg_{yp} is the mean concentration of total mercury in whole, age-1 yellow perch in ng/g wet weight. The equation had a coefficient of determination (r^2) of 0.81, a significant positive slope (p < 0.001), and an intercept that did not differ from 0 (p > 0.7). The slope and intercept had standard errors of 1.27 and 125, respectively.

The US Environmental Protection Agency's Tissue Residue Criterion for methylmercury equates to 300 ng/g wet weight. Thus, we anticipate that the Criterion would be exceeded in adult piscivorous fish, such as northern pike, in water bodies where total mercury in whole age-1 yellow perch exceeded a mean concentration of 30 ng/g wet weight.

3. OVERVIEW OF SAMPLING AND ANALYTICAL METHODS

The methods employed in this project will produce data of high analytical reliability that are comparable to information being gathered for other sites in the Great Lakes region and the Nation. These data will provide a solid foundation for assessing methylmercury contamination and potential ecological risks to biota that forage in surface waters of park units in the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network.

3.1 FIELD SEASON PREPARATIONS

Detailed preparations for sampling of biosentinel organisms will begin in early winter (January through February). Field preparations will include acquisition of needed scientific collector's permits, procurement of field supplies, and the coordination of sampling schedules among participating personnel of the University, the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network, and the park units to be sampled that calendar year (see SOP 10).

3.2 FIELD MEASUREMENTS AND SAMPLING

Prey fish. Prey fish should be sampled in early spring (2 to 3 weeks after ice out) with small-mesh bag seines or with a back-pack electroshocker deployed in littoral habitat. Passive gear, such as minnow traps and small-mesh traps nets, may also be used to obtain fish. The field crew should attempt to obtain age-1 yellow perch or small prey fish of an alternative target species (listed in Section 1.4) if yellow perch are not present or sufficiently abundant in the water body being sampled.

The size range of age-1 yellow perch (or other target species) may be estimated in the field by measuring and recording the total length (distance from the tip of the snout to the tip of the compressed tail) of about 100 to 200 randomly selected fish and plotting the data on a length-frequency histogram. In general, the first distinct bell curve below a total length of 90 mm on the length-frequency distribution will represent age-1 fish. If the size range of age-1 yellow perch is known from prior sampling or can be inferred in the field from the length-frequency distribution, the field crew should randomly select and retain 38 to 40 fish within this size range for processing. If the size range of age-1 fish cannot be inferred from the length-frequency distribution because of a non-distinct length-frequency curve, the crew should retain 50 to 75 small target fish from each site. Fish may be euthanized in the field with an overdose of methane tricaine sulfonate (MS 222) or by other agency-approved means of euthanasia. In the field, prey fish should be held in labeled zip-seal freezer bags containing water from the sampled water body, and placed on ice as soon as feasible. Detailed methods for sampling and processing of prey fish in the field are provided in SOP 2.

Larval dragonflies. If attempts to sample prey fish are unsuccessful, larval dragonflies should be collected with D-frame nets from open benthic substrates (i.e., sand, gravel and cobble) and from moderately vegetated littoral or wetland habitats. Most dragonflies in the western Great Lakes region have relatively long lifecycles, in which the larval stage can span from 1 to 4 years (Hilsenhoff 1996). Sampling should target larger larvae that are approaching emergence as adults, given that the concentration of methylmercury is expected to be greatest in older individuals. Sampling should be done in early spring (2 to 3 weeks after ice out) before older larvae transform and emerge as adults. Detailed methods for sampling and processing of larval dragonflies in the field are provided in SOP 3.

3.3 SAMPLE STORAGE

Prey fish. In the field, prey fish should be held in sealed, labeled zip-seal freezer bags containing water from the sampled water body. At day's end, these samples should be sorted by species (or taxon) and grouped by species (taxon) and water body. Each species-waterbody group should be placed into double, labeled zip-seal freezer bags containing tap water or surface water. These bagged samples should be frozen at $\leq 20^{\circ}$ C within 12 to 24 hours of collection. Field data for each group of samples should be entered onto pre-printed field data sheets on Rite-in-the-Rain[®] paper. When each sampling trip has been completed, samples should be transported in frozen condition to the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, River Studies Center, where they will be stored in an ultra-cold (-80°C) freezer in double-sealed zip-seal plastic bags until further analysis. Detailed methods for processing and storage of prey fish are provided in SOP 2.

Larval dragonflies. When feasible, samples should be pre-sorted visually in the field by taxon and size. Dragonfly larvae should be placed in aerated containers filled with water from the sampled water body while in the field and during transport back to the field laboratory. Larvae should be held in aerated water from the sampled water body at room temperature for 12 to 15 hours to allow for the defecation of gut contents. Each larva can then be blotted dry on Whatman[®] filter paper, placed into a pre-labeled, sterile Whirl-Pak[®] bag, and frozen. Field data for each sample should be entered onto pre-printed field data sheets on Rite-in-the-Rain[®] paper. When each sampling trip has been completed, samples should be transported in frozen condition to the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, River Studies Center, where they will be stored in an ultra-cold (-80°C) freezer in double-sealed zip-seal plastic bags until further analysis. Detailed methods for processing and storage of larval dragonflies are provided in SOP 3.

3.4 PREPARATION AND ANALYSIS OF SAMPLES

Prey fish. In the laboratory, each fish should be gently thawed, identified to species, measured (total length to the nearest millimeter), and weighed (to 0.01 g). From 8 to 20 scales should be taken with a scalpel from the area of insertion of the left pectoral fin and placed into a labeled scale envelope for eventual age estimation. Each fish should be placed into a labeled zip-seal plastic bag, and stored in an ultra-cold freezer until lyophilization. Samples are lyophilized from the frozen state in a VirTis Freeze Drier unit that achieves a constant vacuum of <10 mTorr and condenser temperature of -90°C for about 3-4 days. Selected samples are periodically removed and weighed to assure a constant mass after day 3, and dried further if sample mass has changed more than 5% during the last 24 hours of lyophilization. After lyophilization, double-bagged samples may be stored indefinitely (years to decades) in a glass dessicator with sufficient drying agent and vacuum. Ideally, samples should be stored in the dark. Lyophilized whole fish should be homogenized individually with an acid-cleaned stainless steel blender cup that attaches to a conventional blender. Samples are homogenized until the tissue becomes a fine powder, which is stored in the same zip-seal bag used for the whole fish.

The total mercury content of whole prey fish is determined with methods adapted from U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Method 1631 (USEPA 2001*b*) and from Hammerschmidt et al. (1999). Lyophilized and homogenized samples are weighed into plastic tubes, and then digested in a strong acid solution to free mercury from its organic matrix. Additional chemical digestion with a free radical source is used to aid in organic matrix oxidation. Digested samples are then placed into an autosampler and analyzed by adding a reducing agent that converts inorganic mercury to gas phase Hg^o, which is purged onto gold pre-concentration traps and analyzed by cold-vapor atomic fluorescence spectrophotometry. A Leeman Labs Hydra AF Gold Plus analyzer is used to automate the entire analytical procedure for total mercury. Most of the mercury in whole prey fish is present as methylmercury; therefore, the analyses of prey fish for total mercury yields a valid estimate of methylmercury concentration (Wiener et al. 2007). Detailed methods for analysis of prey fish for total mercury are provided in SOP 4. A randomly selected subsample (5% to 10%) of the prey fish analyzed for total mercury will also be analyzed for methylmercury (SOP 5).

Larval dragonflies. In the laboratory, samples of dragonflies in Whirl-Pak® bags should be thawed for taxonomic identification, and processed soon after thawing to limit sample degradation on a clean, acid-washed work surface. Most late-instar dragonfly larvae found in the Great Lakes Network can be identified to species. Larval dragonflies should be identified to species or genus with taxonomic keys by Needham et al. (2000) and Hilsenhoff (1999). After taxonomic identification, specimens grouped by water body and sampling date should be weighed individually (wet weight) and measured (body length). Wet weight can be determined on a top-loading balance, with in a pre-weighed Teflon Petri dish used as a weighing boat. The identification, length, and fresh weight of each individual should be entered into a standard SQL database (e.g., Microsoft Access) with a unique specimen identification number.

Quality control for taxonomic identification of larval dragonflies should follow procedures outlined by Barbour et al. (1999), and questionable specimens should be taxonomically verified by a recognized dragonfly specialist. Species lists from the voucher collection should be created and maintained, and a representative specimen of each species obtained from a particular sampling location should be preserved with 70% ethanol and stored in labeled 25-ml glass vials.

Large dragonfly larvae, weighing ≥ 150 mg, should be processed and analyzed individually. Smaller individuals of a given species can be pooled into composite samples to obtain the dry mass of sample (~25 mg) needed for analysis. Individual and composite sample of dragonflies should be placed refrozen before lyophilization. Samples of dragonflies should be lyophilized in the frozen state in a VirTis Freeze Drier unit that achieves a constant vacuum of <10 mTorr and condenser temperature of -90°C for about 3-4 days. Selected samples should be periodically removed and weighed to ensure a constant mass after day 3, and dried further if sample mass has changed more than 5% during the last 24 hours of lyophilization. After lyophilization, double-bagged samples can be stored for years to decades in a glass dessicator with sufficient drying agent and vacuum. Ideally, samples should be stored in the dark. Each lyophilized individual and composite sample should be homogenized with an acid-washed mortar and pestle, and the homogenate returned to the original bag until digestion and analysis.

Methylmercury in dragonflies will be determined by proven, published procedures adapted from Liang et al. (1994) and Hammerschmidt and Fitzgerald (2005). Homogenized, lyophilized samples are added to Teflon vials in sub-gram quantities. Methylmercury is extracted from samples and freed from its organic matrix via digestion with dilute nitric acid. Methylmercury is then converted to a volatile form, purged onto a pre-concentration trap for organic volatiles, and desorbed into a carrier gas stream. The various volatile mercury species are then separated by gas chromatography, and the methylmercury is thermally decomposed to elemental mercury (Hg^o), which is can be quantified by cold vapor atomic fluorescence spectrophotometry at picogram levels. Details on the purge-trap method and detection by cold vapor atomic fluorescence spectrophotometry are described in Horvat et al. (1993) and Olson et al. (1997). SOP 5 provides detailed descriptions of procedures for the preparation and analysis of larval dragonflies for methylmercury.

Quality assurance and quality control for mercury determinations. Total and methylmercury determinations in prey fish and dragonflies invertebrates should be supported by a full array of quality-assurance elements characterizing precision and accuracy. These include the use of (1) analytical and procedural blanks, (2) evaluation of calibration linear regression, (3) sample replication, (4) certified reference materials, (5) standard addition spike recoveries, and (6) periodic check standards during analysis. About ten percent of the biosentinel samples should be analyzed in triplicate to assess sample precision, and recoveries from (standard-addition) spiked samples should be done for matrix evaluation. The data acceptance/rejection criteria and the order of qualitycontrol elements for consideration are described in SOP 6.

4. DATA HANDLING, ANALYSIS, AND REPORTING

4.1 METADATA PROCEDURES

Metadata allow potential data users to evaluate the quality and usefulness of the data based on an understanding of the complete process under which data were collected and maintained. Thus, all of the protocol documentation, including standard operating procedures (SOPs), are part of the metadata for this inventory and monitoring effort, and a reference to the appropriate version of these documents is part of the metadata for any particular element of a dataset. All data must, therefore, have an associated value for the date and time on which they were collected.

For metadata associated with geospatial data, we will abide by Executive Order 12906, which mandates that every federal agency document all new geospatial data it collects or produces with the Federal Geographic Data Committee (FGDC) Content Standard for Digital Geospatial Metadata (CSDGM; <u>www.fgdc.gov/metadata/contstan.html</u>). All GIS data layers will be documented with applicable FGDC and NPS metadata standards. The

Network will also generate FGDC-style metadata for non-spatial datasets, absent only the geospatial-specific elements.

More details on the Network's overall strategy for metadata generation, management, and distribution are provided in chapter 7 (Data Documentation) of the GLKN Data Management Plan (Hart and Gafvert 2006).

4.2 OVERVIEW OF DATABASE DESIGN

The Water Resource Division of the National Park Service requires that all Inventory and Monitoring data on water quality be compatible with, and uploaded to, the US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) STORET database. The Water Resource Division developed a Microsoft Access database tool, NPSTORET, which duplicates most of the data and table structures in USEPA STORET to facilitate easier movement of the water quality data into USEPA STORET format. Data collected under this protocol are ecologically linked to aquatic health, and we will therefore use NPSTORET as the primary data entry tool for uploading to the USEPA STORET system. Internally, the Network will also migrate the data into a Microsoft SQL Server relational database management system for integration with other Great Lakes Network data and to generate summary reports and drive an Internet Mapping System (IMS) used for exchange and visualization of the monitoring and assessment data.

The Great Lakes Network will maintain one master copy of NPSTORET at the Ashland (WI) office on a central server. This is the only copy of NPSTORET that will be used to export data to other locations. Additional copies of NPSTORET will be used by Network staff or cooperators, but they will only be used as a conduit for data entry and the importation of data to GLKN's master version of NPSTORET. During analysis, the data from the master copy of NPSTORET, or the mirrored tables in GLKN's SQL Server geodatabase must be used.

4.3 DATA ENTRY, VERIFICATION, AND EDITING

Detailed instructions for the data entry procedures for this protocol are given in SOP 9 (Data entry and management). Two general classes of data will be obtained. The first includes field observations and measurements recorded on printed data sheets in the field. These field sheets will be entered into a digital form in NPSTORET that is a visual replica of the printed forms. The second class of data includes the analytical results of determinations of total mercury and methylmercury done at the University of Wisconsin at La Crosse. An import routine will be created in NPSTORET to bring in laboratory results and duplicate the quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) procedures that would be performed in NPSTORET if these data had been entered through the form interface.

Data verification starts with the QA/QC steps outlined in the accompanying SOPs. If data being entered into NPSTORET do not pass a form-based QA/QC test, NPSTORET will prompt the user to make corrections and re-enter the data. Data that are outside the

expected range for a parameter based on previous records and scientific literature will be flagged for further review.

Quality assurance/quality control checks are performed as data are entered into NPSTORET and again when the data are transferred to the Water Resource Division of the National Park Service. The Network's water quality data records, including those from this protocol, are considered provisional until they are returned to the Network from the Water Resource Division, or are accepted by the Division for upload to USEPA STORET without changes. Only qualified users who have been trained and given editorial permissions are allowed to edit data in NPSTORET. These procedures protect the integrity of the data and allow the history of each data record to be traced.

4.4 DATA ARCHIVAL PROCEDURES

Data archiving serves two primary functions: (1) to provide a source for retrieval of any dataset when the primary dataset is lost or destroyed, and (2) to provide a data record that is an essential part of the QA/QC process. For digital data (e.g., data maintained electronically in a GPS or laptop computer and transferred electronically), the unedited files are considered the original data.

All field data will be recorded initially on hardcopy data forms to conform to USEPA standards. Hardcopy forms will be reviewed by the project manager within 30 days of collection in the field. Corrections will be made without erasing original data, dated, and initialed. We will make one photocopy and one digital replica (scanned version) of these corrected field data sheets. Following data entry and initial QA/QC in NPSTORET, we will create duplicate files of all digital data.

The Network's master version of NPSTORET and the SQL Server geodatabase will be maintained on a central server in the Ashland (WI) Inventory and Monitoring Office that is backed up daily, and backed up off-site weekly. Complete details of the GLKN Server archiving procedure, as well as the general strategy for data archiving, are found in the Chapter 4 (Data Management Infrastructure) of GLKN's Data Management Plan (Hart and Gafvert 2006).

4.5 QUALITY ASSURANCE AND QUALITY CONTROL FOR DATA MANAGEMENT

Quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) procedures are crucial during all steps of data entry and management. The QA/QC procedures applied in the management of monitoring data at the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network are summarized in Table 4.

Table 4. Summary of quality assurance and quality control procedures applied in the management of monitoring data at the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network.

Procedure	Description
Instrument calibration logs	Each instrument, such as a GPS, must have a permanently bound logbook with results of annual calibrations.
Field forms	Field forms are the only written record of field data. Copies will be placed in site binders and originals kept on file indefinitely.
Estimating precision	Method precision will be quantified as Relative Standard Deviation (RSD, calculated from analyses of triplicate subsamples) or as Relative Percent Difference (RPD, calculated from analyses of duplicate subsamples). Precision will be estimated within 7 days of receipt of laboratory results.
Manual data entry	Data will be manually entered into computer forms that mimic the field form, to reduce transcription error.
Data verification	All (100%) manual entries from hardcopy field forms to NPSTORET will be checked in the first year. Errors will be corrected and documented. The percentage of entries verified after the first year may be reduced, depending on the error rate, but will never be less than 25%.
Data verification reports	A data verification report will be prepared each year to document transcription errors and steps to be taken to reduce such errors.
Data validation	Data validation is the checking of the data against known ranges for outliers. This will be done during verification (above), electronically within NPSTORET, and during upload to USEPA STORET.
Data validation reports	A data validation report will be produced annually. The report will document deviations, if any, from QA/QC procedures and objectives and discuss the impacts of those deviations.
Data qualification codes	Data will be coded when it is fully qualified before they are sent to WRD for upload to USEPA STORET.
Data archiving	Data and associated records will be archived at the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring office in Ashland (WI) in boxes numbered consecutively by year, project, and park.

4.6 ROUTINE DATA SUMMARIES

After QA/QC procedures have been completed, the mercury concentrations in biosentinel organisms should be summarized annually for each park sampled and for the Great Lakes Network as a whole. Descriptive statistics for mercury concentration should include mean, median, maximum and minimum values, skewness, kurtosis, and measures of variability (e.g., coefficient of variation, standard error, variance). Data should also be subjected to parametric and nonparametric analyses, as appropriate, to test statistical

hypotheses related to mercury concentrations and their potential relation to spatial, temporal, environmental, and human factors (e.g., Gilbert 1987).

Data summaries should also examine the proportion of measurements that exceed defined concentration thresholds of concern. Geographic variation in mercury concentrations should be displayed cartographically, to facilitate comparison among sampling sites and to highlight locations where concentrations in biosentinels exceed levels of concern.

4.7 METHODS FOR ANALYSES OF SPATIAL AND TREND DATA

Within a given population, concentrations of methylmercury in fish typically increase with increasing body size or age. Consequently, information on the length, weight, or age of the fish analyzed must be incorporated into statistical analyses when examining spatial and temporal patterns in mercury concentration in samples of fish that vary in size and age composition (Tremblay et al. 1998, Wiener et al. 1997). In contrast, mercury concentrations in 1-year-old prey fish do not vary with body size--either within or among water bodies (e.g., Wiener et al. 2006). Thus, concentrations of mercury in a given species of age-1 prey fish can be compared directly among sites or years, without including metrics for body size in the statistical analysis.

We will use one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to test the null hypothesis of equality of mean concentrations of mercury among study sites (spatial analysis) or among years (trend analysis) within a study site. For significant ANOVA, multiple comparisons among means will be made with Tukey's *hsd* test, which has an experiment-wise error rate. A Type I error (α) of 0.10 will be used to judge the significance of statistical tests, in accordance with *a priori* design objectives for the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network.

If ancillary data for study sites are sufficient, we will use information-theoretic modeling (Akaike Information Criteria) to construct linear models with predicted variables pertaining to mercury in biosentinel organisms and predictor variables pertaining to ecosystem factors and other variables that can influence the production and abundance of methylmercury (Anderson et al. 2001, Burnham and Anderson 2001). In accordance with the information-theoretic approach, we will apply judgment based on the state of scientific understanding of factors and processes controlling the abundance of methylmercury in selecting predictor variables (e.g., Wiener et al. 2006). All statistical analyses will be done on a personal computer with SAS software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC).

4.8 **Reporting Schedule**

Data will be summarized annually in a single Annual Summary Report containing results for all Network parks where sampling was done during the year being reported. The primary audience for these reports is park managers. A draft Annual Summary Report will be submitted to the Program Coordinator of the NPS Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network (Ashland, Wisconsin) for internal review by January 31 of the year after sampling. After review and revision, a final report will be provided to Network parks and partners by April 15.

A comprehensive Analysis and Synthesis Report with results for all Network parks will be prepared after the initial 3 years of sampling. The target audience for the Analysis and Synthesis Report includes the parks within the Network, both regional and Service-wide Inventory and Monitoring Offices, and the broader scientific community. A draft Analysis and Synthesis Report will be submitted to the Program Coordinator of the NPS Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network by February 15 of the year following the third year of sampling. The draft will be reviewed internally and sent to the parks and possibly to external reviewers, at the discretion of the regional Program Coordinator. After review and revision, the final report will be provided on April 15. Publication of monitoring and inventory results in a peer-reviewed scientific journal is encouraged, to enhance the dissemination of information and to obtain additional external evaluation of program methods, data, and interpretations. Results can also be communicated to the scientific and resource-management communities in presentations at technical conferences and workshops.

4.9 REPORT FORMAT

Both the Annual Summary and the Analyses and Synthesis reports will follow the format of a typical article in a peer-reviewed journal. These reports will be included in the ongoing series of Technical Reports produced by the Great Lakes Network and its collaborators. All final reports will be available on the Web in pdf format.

The final reports will contain a brief review of pertinent literature, a description of methods used in the study, a summary of quality-assurance results, statistical analyses and interpretations of data, tabular and graphic displays of summary data, and interpretations of findings. Detailed additional information and lengthy tables will be attached as appendices or data supplements.

5. PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS AND TRAINING

5.1 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Either a faculty member from the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse (UW-L) or the GLKN Program Coordinator will serve as crew leader on sampling trips. Other members of the field crew will include an Associate Researcher and one or two faculty members. The duties of the UW-L Associate Researcher include preparation for the field season, participation in the collection of samples and other field data, preparation and analysis of samples for total mercury and methylmercury, entry of all field and laboratory data, and statistical summarization of data for the Annual Summary Report and the Analysis and Synthesis Reports. All involved UW-L faculty members will participate in the sampling of aquatic biosentinel organisms during the course of the project.

Professor Wiener will serve as the University's primary point of contact with the GLKN Program Coordinator and other program personnel, and will represent the University in NPS meetings or workshops concerning the project or the overall Inventory and Monitoring Program. Professor Wiener will have lead responsibility for preparation and submission of project data, reports, and any related documents to the GLKN Program Coordinator. He will also be responsible for making any needed revisions to this protocol, given concurrence from the GLKN Program Coordinator. Professor Sandheinrich will be responsible for oversight of the total-mercury laboratory, including oversight of the preparation and analyses of biosentinel organisms for total mercury. Professor Rolfhus will be responsible for oversight of the methylmercury laboratory, including oversight of the preparation and analyses of biosentinel organisms for methylmercury. Professor Haro will be responsible for oversight of the taxonomic identification and processing of dragonflies and any other aquatic invertebrates collected during the monitoring and inventory project.

5.2 CREW QUALIFICATIONS

The leader of the field crew must have a bachelor's or advanced (graduate) degree in biology, chemistry, or a related physical or biological science. The crew leader should also have prior leadership experience and good decision-making skills, as well as experience in the use of boats, motors and canoes. Members of field crews should have a background in biology, chemistry, or other related physical or biological science, although an undergraduate degree is not required. Prior field experience with sampling of fish and benthic invertebrates and with the use of boats, outboard motors, and canoes, is highly desirable.

Mercury analysts must have at least two years of undergraduate laboratory course experience, and preferably at least six months of research experience with a faculty mentor. Undergraduates must be working towards a major in chemistry, biology, or related physical science, and must have already finished an applicable laboratory course, such as quantitative analysis.

Persons performing or providing oversight of analytical determinations of total mercury and methylmercury and involved with the interpretation of data should have substantial experience in investigations of methylmercury contamination of aquatic resources, preferably including assessment of the effects of methylmercury exposure on aquatic biota. These individuals should possess experience in the collection, handling, and analysis of biological and environmental samples for mercury, and access to a mercury laboratory with proven analytical reliability. These qualifications should be reflected by accurate measurements of total mercury and methylmercury in environmental samples and publication of scientific papers in high-impact refereed journals. The qualifications of participating UW-L faculty are described further in Appendix 3.

5.3 TRAINING PROCEDURES

Before participation in data collection, personnel must become familiar with the SOPs and equipment to be used in the field and laboratory. Training procedures for new personnel will include the following.

- Review of this protocol and all SOPs;
- Familiarity with procedures for calibration, operation, and maintenance of equipment;
- Review of safety procedures and emergency contacts;
- Familiarity with methods for measurements and sample collection;
- Familiarity with methods for handling and preserving samples;
- Completion of field data forms, sample labels, chain-of-custody forms;
- Data entry into NPSTORET;
- Completion of field and calibration logbooks; and
- Park-specific training, provided on-site by park staff (e.g., boat operation, navigation, radios)

Park staff participating in the sampling of biosentinel organisms will be instructed in the methods of collecting and handling biological samples and in the completion of data forms. Samplers must be trained in the use of "clean hands-dirty hands" techniques, which involve the proper use of plastic gloves, zip-seal bags, and sampling gear. Briefly, the sampler coming into direct contact with the samples must wear clean gloves at all times, and not come into contact with any surfaces other than the sample. This "clean hands" person also handles the containers into which samples are placed. A "dirty hands" sampling partner handles the equipment and the exterior bag or container that encloses the clean interior bag.

Analytical training. One month of full-time experience is usually required to achieve proficiency in determinations of total mercury and methylmercury, and three months of experience are generally required to work independently and to troubleshoot the analytical system. The primary characteristics of a successful analyst are patience, organization, attention to detail, and the ability to logically isolate variables during troubleshooting activities. The most efficient analyses are conducted during long continuous periods, typically 10 hours or more. Thus, laboratory analysts must demonstrate an ability to stay focused during long periods of time.

6. OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS

6.1 ANNUAL WORK LOAD AND SCHEDULE

Detailed preparations for annual sampling trips will begin in early winter (January through February), as described in section 3.1 (Field Season Preparations) of this protocol. Sampling of biosentinel organisms will be done in May and early June, and is

expected to require about 3 weeks (15-18 days) of field work each year. The annual preparation and analysis of samples will begin in June and is expected to require 6 months of effort in the laboratory. Schedules for reporting of annual and three-year results to the National Park Service are provided in section 4.8 of this report.

6.2 FACILITY AND MAJOR EQUIPMENT NEEDS

This section outlines the combined facilities and equipment needed by the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse (UW-L) and the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network (GLKN) for accessing study sites and sampling biosentinel organisms at parks in the Network. Sampling can normally be conducted by a two-person field crew, however, at some parks additional logistical support will be required. For example, access to sample areas at ISRO and VOYA will require a boat operator from the Network office or the park. It is anticipated that field crews during sampling of biosentinel organisms will include one or two UW-L personnel and one,NPS employee from either GLKN or the park unit being sampled. Additional quality control visits will be conducted on a periodic basis. All UW-L personnel are stationed in La Crosse, and GLKN personnel are stationed in Ashland (WI).

Travel from La Crosse and Ashland to park units will be done with rented minivan, GSA lease vehicle, or privately owned vehicle. Isle Royale National Park in Lake Superior will be accessed by commercial vessel (ferry) operating from Grand Portage, Minnesota. Motor boats will be needed to access sampling sites or portage points to sampling sites in Isle Royale National Park (ISRO) and Voyageurs National Park (VOYA). When feasible, we will use Park personnel, boats, laboratory space, and lodging facilities during sampling trips.

Network motor boats will be used to access portage points to sampling sites at VOYA and ISRO. A boat operator from either the Network or the park will be needed to assist with access to the sample sites. We will not attempt to sample on the Great Lakes when lake and weather conditions are considered too dangerous.

Access to the inland lakes being sampled at INDU, SLBE, PIRO, and GRPO are accessible by road. Wet labs are available at VOYA, GRPO, ISRO, PIRO, SLBE, INDU, and the Network office in Ashland.

Park lodging is available with advanced notice and planning at VOYA, GRPO, ISRO, PIRO, SLBE, and INDU. This lodging is often on a first come first serve basis and must be coordinated closely with the park. Occasional lodging at hotels may be required.

Biosentinel samples should be frozen within 24 hours after collection. To facilitate this, UW-L will purchase a small, portable freezer, which will be used for sample storage and transport during sampling trips to most parks. Samples obtained at ISRO will be stored in freezers at NPS facilities or held on dry ice in portable coolers. At the end of each sampling trip, all samples will be transported to the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse for storage, preparation, analysis, and archiving.

6.3 START-UP COSTS

We expect the initial investment in training to total about \$5,876 (Table 5). Initial startup costs for equipment and supplies are estimated at \$7,583 (itemized in Table 6). One-time purchases exceeding \$250.00 include a GPS unit, a freezer for dedicated sample storage, fish-sampling gear, and D-nets for benthic invertebrate sampling. The annual estimated total cost of replenishing expendable supplies is \$2,831 (Table 6).

Table 5. Total start-up costs for training to sample, identify, process, and analyze biosentinel organisms from parks of the Great Lakes Network. Analytical training will include sampling, preparation, and digestion of samples as well as demonstrated proficiency in the determination of total mercury and methylmercury.

Item	Time required (hours)	Cost per unit of time (salary & benefits)	Cost for item
(1) Training in sampling techniques and field procedures (e.g., GPS)	16	\$21.60	\$346
(2) Training in identification and measurement of biosentinel organisms	16	21.60	346
(3) Analytical training in the preparation and analysis of prey fish for total mercury	80	21.60	1,728
(4) Analytical training in the preparation and analysis of dragonfly larvae for methylmercury	160	21.60	3,456
Total cost	272		\$5,876

Table 6. Estimated costs of equipment and supplies for sampling and analysis of biosentinel organisms for mercury and bioaccumulative organic contaminants at six park units in the Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network. An asterisk (*) indicates a one-time startup expense; other costs are expected to recur annually.

Item	Start-up cost for item	Annual replacement cost for item
Portable electric freezer for field trips*	\$200	
Freezer for sample storage at UW-L*	650	
Frame back pack*	140	
GPS unit*	350	
Portable coolers (2)*	60	
Small-mesh bag seines (3 @ \$350 each)*	1,050	
Sampling gear for northern pike	200	25
D-nets for benthic invertebrate sampling (2)*	264	
Wildco© wash bucket with 500-µm mesh*	99	
Clipboard*	26	
Rite-in-the-Rain paper	26	26
Sharpies & permanent markers	15	15
Zip-Loc bags	25	25
Envelopes for fish scales	25	25
Polyethylene vials for invertebrates	100	25
Stainless steel scalpels and forceps*	50	25
Mercury standards, certified reference materials, & analytical reagents for total Hg	520	520
Mercury standards, certified reference	2,708	1,170
materials, & analytical reagents for methyl Hg		
Expendable laboratory supplies (total Hg)	775	775
Expendable laboratory supplies (methyl Hg)	300	200
	¢7 500	¢0.004
Iotai	\$7,583	\$2,831

6.4 TOTAL ANNUAL BUDGET

The expected total cost of the program to GLKN during the first 3 years (2008-2010) is \$178,532 (Table 7). This estimate does not include in-kind support provided by Network parks during sampling of biosentinel organisms in the field or the salaries and benefits for the GLKN Program Coordinator and Data Manager (both in Ashland, WI).

The University will annually contribute an estimated \$22,460 of in-kind support (the total estimated cost of salaries and benefits for time donated annually by the four faculty members), which represents about 50 percent of the total direct costs to the University (Table 8). Most of the estimated total direct costs of the project will be expended for salaries, wages, and benefits of University personnel and students involved with the sampling, preparation and analyses of samples, analysis of data, and reporting of project results. We estimate that the UW-L Associate Researcher will devote 9 full months of time annually to the project, which is based on the UW-L River Studies Center's extensive experience with the effort required to prepare for sampling trips and to sample,

process, and analyze small fish and invertebrate organisms for total mercury and methylmercury.

Table 7. Estimated annual budget during Years 1 and 2 for monitoring and inventory of mercury and bioaccumulative organic contaminants at six park units in the Great Lakes Network, excluding costs of the Program Coordinator, Data Manager, participating personnel at the park units, and contractual analysis of organic contaminants in fish. Tabulated costs apply to years when collection, processing, and analyses of samples are being done. During Year 3, which is devoted to data analysis and preparation of reports to GLKN, direct costs are \$11,000 for faculty time plus 17.5% indirect costs. Startup costs for training and purchasing of equipment and supplies are itemized in Section 6.3.

Budget category & item	Rate	Annual cost (dollars)	Annual in kind contribution (dollars)
Salaries, wages and b	enefits (UW-L)		
Associate Researcher	\$2,500/mo + 44.5% benefits for 9 mo/yr (0.75 FTE allocated to project annually)	\$32,513	0
Faculty (Drs. Rolfhus, Haro, Sandheinrich, and Wiener)	\$2,750 per faculty member per year	11,000	\$22,460
Student labor (technical support in laboratory)	\$10.00/hour + 2.5% benefits for 160 hr/yr	1,640	0
Subtotal		\$45,153	\$22,460
Expendable supplies	Annual costs for expendable field and laboratory supplies, as itemized in Table 6	\$2,831	0
Travel (UW-L)	42 person days @ \$96/day (for sampling trips and meetings with NPS)	4,032	0
Vehicle rental and gasoline	Annual rental of mini-van for 2 weeks @ \$319/wk for transport of personnel and gear from La Crosse to sampling sites plus estimated cost of gasoline for 2000 miles @ \$0.20/mile plus annual transport of fish samples for organic analyses to Wisconsin Laboratory of Hygiene via rental car (La Crosse to Madison, WI, and return; \$75.00)	1,113	0
Commercial ferry to Isle Royale	Transport of 3 field crew members (\$57 each way per person) and a canoe (\$29 each way) from Grand Portage (MN) to ISRO	400	0
Subtotal annual direct costs (UW-L)		\$53,529	\$22,460 (total in-kind contribution)
Grand total to UW-L	Including indirect costs at 17.5% CESU rate	\$62,897	

The estimated total costs for the first three years of this project are \$178,532, with \$154,532 of these funds directed to the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse and \$24,000

directed to the Wisconsin Laboratory of Hygiene (Table 8). The University of Wisconsin-La Crosse is a member the Great Lakes-Northern Forest Cooperative Ecosystem Studies Unit (CESU), and Professor Wiener serves as the University's Technical Representative to the CESU. The indirect costs tabulated in Table 8 are based on a transfer of funds from the National Park Service via a Cooperative Agreement through the Cooperative Ecosystem Studies Unit at the member rate of 17.5%. The total cost (\$24,000) for contractual analysis of fish samples for organic contaminants at the Wisconsin Laboratory of Hygiene is based on analysis of 10 samples per year during 2 years at a unit cost of \$1,200 per composite sample. Payment to the contract laboratory will be made directly by GLKN.

Table 8. Estimated total cost for monitoring and inventory of mercury and bioaccumulative organic contaminants at six park units in the Great Lakes Network, during the first 3 years of the project (2008-2010).

Item	Cost (dollars)	Totals (dollars)		
Start-up costs				
Training	\$5,876			
Equipment and supplies	7,583			
Subtotal		\$13,459		
Annual direct costs				
Year 1	53,529			
Year 2	53,529			
Year 3	11,000			
Subtotal		\$118,058		
Total direct cost at UW-La Crosse		\$131,517		
Indirect costs (@17.5% CESU rate)		23,015		
Contractual analysis of fish samples (paid by GLKN to WI Lab Hygiene)				
Year 1	12,000			
Year 2	12,000			
Subtotal		24,000		
Grand total during first 3 years		\$178,532		

7. References

- Abbott, J. C. 2007. OdonataCentral: An online resource for the Odonata of North America. Austin, Texas. Available at <u>http://www.odonatacentral.com</u>. (Accessed: August 27, 2007).
- Anderson, D. R., W. A. Link, D. H. Johnson, and K. P Burnham. 2001. Suggestions for presenting the results of data analyses. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 65:373-378.
- Anonymous. 2007. Endangered and threatened wildlife and plants: initiation of 5-year reviews of three wildlife species and two plant species in the Midwest Region. 72 Fed. Reg. 41348-41350 (July 27, 2007). From the Federal Register Online via GPO Access [wais.access.gpo.gov], [DOCID:fr27jy07-71]. Available at http://www.fws.gov/policy/library/E7-14535.html.
- Aslesen, N. S., J. G. Wiener, K. R. Rolfhus, K. A. Bluske, E. R. Schmidt, and S. W. Bailey. 2006. Methylmercury in lagoon habitats of the Apostle Islands National Lakeshore, Lake Superior (Abstract). 5th Annual Western Great Lakes Research Conference, Ashland, Wisconsin, March 22-23, 2006.
- Barbour, M. T., J. Gerritsen, B. D. Snyder, and J. B. Stibling. 1999. Rapid bioassessment protocols for use in streams and wadeable rivers: peryphyton, benthic macroinvertebrates and fish, second edition. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Report EPA 841-B-99-002, Office of Water, Washington, DC, USA. 202 pp.
- Barr, J. F. 1996. Aspects of common loon (*Gavia immer*) feeding biology on its breeding ground. *Hydrobiologia* 321:119-144.
- Basu, N., A. M. Scheuhammer, K. Rouvinen-Watt, N. Grochowina, R. D. Evans, M. O'Brien, and H. Man Chan. 2007. Decreased N-methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA) receptor levels are associated with mercury exposure in wild and captive mink. *Neurotoxicology* 28:587-593.
- Becker, G. C. 1983. Fishes of Wisconsin. University of Wisconsin Press, Madison, WI. 1052 p.
- Benoit, J., C. Gilmour, A. Heyes, R. P. Mason, and C. Miller. 2003. Geochemical and biological controls over methylmercury production and degradation in aquatic ecosystems. Pages 262-297 in Y. Chai and O. C. Braids, editors. *Biogeochemistry of environmentally important trace elements*. American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, USA.
- Bloom, N. S. 1992. On the chemical form of mercury in edible fish and marine invertebrate tissue. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 49:1010-1017.
- Bodaly, R. A., and R. J. P. Fudge. 1999. Uptake of mercury by fish in an experimental boreal reservoir. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 37:103-109.
- Borum, D., M. K. Manibusan, R. Schoeny, and E. L. Winchester. January 2001. Water quality criterion for the protection of human health: methylmercury. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Report EPA-823-R-01-001, Office of Water, Washington, DC.
- Bouton, S. N., P. C. Frederick, M. G. Spalding, and H. McGill. 1999. Effects of chronic, low concentrations of dietary methylmercury on the behavior or juvenile great egrets. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 18:1934-1939.

- Burgess, N. M., and M. W. Meyer. 2008. Methylmercury exposure associated with reduced productivity in common loons. *Ecotoxicology* 17:83-91.
- Burnham, K. P., and D. R. Anderson. 2001. Kullback-Leibler information as a basis for strong inference in ecological studies. *Wildlife Research* 28:111-119.
- Choy, E. S., P. V. Hodson, L. M. Campbell, A. R. Fowlie, and J. Ridal. 2008. Spatial and temporal trends of mercury concentrations in young-of-the-year spottail shiners (*Notropis hudsonius*) in the St. Lawrence River at Cornwall, ON. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 54:473-481.
- Christensen, V. G., S. P. Wente, M. B. Sandheinrich, and M. E. Brigham. 2006. Spatial variation in fish-tissue mercury concentrations in the St. Croix River Basin, Minnesota and Wisconsin, 2004: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2006–5063. 26 p.
- Clarkson, T. W., and L. Magos. 2006. The toxicology of mercury and its chemical compounds. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology* 36:609-662.
- Colby, P. J., R. E. McNicol, and R. A. Ryder. 1979. Synopsis of biological data on the walleye Stizostedion vitrem vitreum (Mitchill 1818). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, FAO Fisheries Synopsis No. 119. Rome, Italy. 139 p.
- Cope, W. G., J. G. Wiener, and R. G. Rada. 1990. Mercury accumulation in yellow perch in Wisconsin seepage lakes: relation to lake characteristics. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 9:931-940.
- DeVries, D. R., and R. V. Frie. 1996. Determination of age and growth. Pages 483-512 in B. R. Murphy and D. W. Willis, editors. *Fisheries techniques*, 2nd edition. American Fisheries Society Bethesda, Maryland, USA.
- Drevnick, P. E., D. E. Canfield, P. R. Gorski, A. L. C. Shinneman, D. R. Engstrom, D. C. G. Muir, G. R. Smith, P. J. Garrison, L. B. Cleckner, J. P. Hurley, R. B. Noble, R. R. Otter, and J. T. Oris. 2007. Deposition and cycling of sulfur controls mercury accumulation in Isle Royale fish. *Environmental Science and Technology* 41:7266-7272.
- Drevnick, P. E., and M. B. Sandheinrich. 2003. Effects of dietary methylmercury on reproductive endocrinology of fathead minnows. *Environmental Science and Technology* 37:4390-4396.
- Driscoll, C. T., Y. J. Han, C. Y. Chen, D. C. Evers, K. F. Lambert, T. M. Holsen, N. C. Kamman, and R. K. Munson. 2007. Mercury contamination in forest and freshwater ecosystems in the northeastern United States. *BioScience* 57:17-28.
- Elias, J. E, R. Axler, and E. Ruzycki. 2007. Water quality monitoring protocol narrative for inland lakes, Version 1.0. National Park Service, Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network. Available on-line at http://science.nature.nps.gov/im/units/GLKN/reportpubs.cfm.
- Engstrom, D. R., and E. B. Swain. 1997. Recent declines in atmospheric mercury deposition in the Upper Midwest. *Environmental Science and Technology* 31:960-967.

- Engstrom, D. R., S. J. Balogh, and E. B. Swain. 2007. History of mercury inputs to Minnesota lakes: influences of watershed disturbance and localized atmospheric deposition. *Limnology and Oceanography* 52:2467-2483.
- Evers, D. C., L. J. Savoy, C. R. DeSorbo, D. E. Yates, W. Hanson, K. M. Taylor, L. S. Siegel, J. H. Cooley, M. S. Bank, A. Major, K. Munney, B. F. Mower, H. S. Vogel, N. Schoch, M. Pokras, M. W. Goodale, and J. Fair. 2008. Adverse effects from environmental mercury loads on breeding common loons. *Ecotoxicology* 17:69-81.
- Fancy, S. 2004. An overview of vital signs monitoring and its central role in natural resource stewardship and performance management. National Park Service, Vital Signs Monitoring web site. <u>http://science.nature.nps.gov/im/monitor/docs/</u>.
- Fitzgerald, W. F., D. R. Engstrom, R. P. Mason, and E. A. Nater. 1998. The case for atmospheric mercury contamination in remote areas. *Environmental Science and Technology* 32:1-7.
- Fjeld, E., T. O. Haugen, and L. A. Vøllestad. 1998. Permanent impairment in the feeding behavior of grayling (*Thymallus thymallus*) exposed to methylmercury during embryogenesis. *Science of the Total Environment* 213:247-254.
- Frost, T. M., P. K. Montz, T. K. Kratz, T. Badillo, P. Brezonik, M. J. Gonzalez, R. G. Rada, C. J. Watras, K. E. Webster, J. G. Wiener, C. E. Williamson, and D. P. Morris. 1999. Multiple stresses from a single agent: diverse responses to the experimental acidification of Little Rock Lake, Wisconsin. *Limnology and Oceanography* 44(3, part 2):784-794.
- Gilbert, R. O. 1987. *Statistical methods for environmental pollution monitoring*. Van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York. 320 p.
- Gorski, P. R., R. C. Lathrop, S. D. Hill, and R. T. Herrin. 1999. Temporal mercury dynamics and diet composition in the mimic shiner. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 128:701-712.
- Gorski, P. R., L. B. Cleckner, J. P. Hurley, M. E. Sierzen, and D. E. Armstrong. 2003. Factors affecting enhanced mercury bioaccumulation in inland lakes of Isle Royale National Park, USA. *Science of the Total Environment* 304:327-348.
- Gorski, P. R., D. E. Armstrong, J. P. Hurley, and M. M. Shafer. 2006. Speciation of aqueous methylmercury influences uptake by a freshwater alga (*Selenastrum capricornutum*). *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 25:534-540.
- Grieb, T. M., C. T. Driscoll, S. P. Gloss, C. L. Schofield, G. L. Bowie, and D. B. Porcella. 1990. Factors affecting mercury accumulation in fish in the upper Michigan peninsula. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 9:919-930.
- Hall, B. D., R. A. Bodaly, R. J. P. Fudge, J. W. M. Rudd, and D. M. Rosenberg. 1997. Food as the dominant pathway of methylmercury uptake by fish. *Water Air and Soil Pollution* 100:13-24.

- Hammerschmidt, C. R., and W. F. Fitzgerald. 2005. Methylmercury in mosquitoes related to atmospheric mercury deposition and contamination. *Environmental Science and Technology* 39:3034-3039.
- Hammerschmidt, C. R., and W. F. Fitzgerald. 2006. Bioaccumulation and trophic transfer of methylmercury in Long Island Sound. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 51:416-424.
- Hammerschmidt, C. R., J. G. Wiener, B. E. Frazier, and R. G. Rada. 1999. Methylmercury content of eggs in yellow perch related to maternal exposure in four Wisconsin lakes. *Environmental Science and Technology* 33:999-1003.
- Hammerschmidt, C. R., M. B. Sandheinrich, J. G. Wiener, and R. G. Rada. 2002. Effects of dietary methylmercury on reproduction of fathead minnows. *Environmental Science and Technology* 36:877-883.
- Harris, R. C., and R. A. Bodaly. 1998. Temperature, growth and dietary effects on fish mercury dynamics in two Ontario lakes. *Biogeochemistry* 40:175-187.
- Harris, R. C., J. W. M. Rudd, M. Amyot, C. L. Babiarz, K. G. Beaty, P. J. Blanchfield, R. A. Bodaly, B. A. Branfireun, C. C. Gilmour, J. A. Graydon, A. Heyes, H. Hintelmann, J. P. Hurley, C. A. Kelly, D. P. Krabbenhoft, S. E. Lindberg, R. P. Mason, M. J. Paterson, C. L. Podemski, A. Robinson, K. A. Sandilands, G. R. Southworth, V. L. St. Louis, and M. T. Tate. 2007. Whole-ecosystem study shows rapid fish-mercury response to changes in mercury deposition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104:16586-16591.
- Hart, M., and U. Gafvert (Editors). 2006. Data management plan. Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network. National Park Service, Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network Report GLKN/2006/20, Ashland, Wisconsin. Available on-line at http://science.nature.nps.gov/im/units/GLKN/reportpubs.cfm
- Heath, J. A., and P. C. Frederick. 2005. Relationships among mercury concentrations, hormones, and nesting effort of White Ibises (*Eudocimus albus*) in the Florida Everglades. *The Auk* 122:255-267.
- Hilsenhoff, W. L. 1996. Aquatic insects of Wisconsin. Keys to Wisconsin genera and notes on biology, habitat, distribution and species. *In* Publication Number 3 (G3648), Natural History Museum Contributions, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, Wisconsin, USA. 79 pp.
- Hoffman, D. J., M. G. Spalding, and P. C. Frederick. 2005. Subchronic effects of methylmercury on plasma and organ biochemistries in great egret nestlings. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 24:3078-3084.
- Horvat, M., L. Liang, and N. S. Bloom. 1993. Comparison of distillation with other current isolation methods for the determination of methyl mercury-compounds in low-level environmental samples. 2. Water. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 282:153-168.
- Horvat M., L. Liang, and N. S. Bloom. 1993. Comparison of distillation with other current isolation methods for the determination of methyl mercury-compounds in low-level environmental samples. 2. Water. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 282:153-168.

- Hurley, J. P., J. M. Benoit, C. L. Babiarz, M. M. Shafer, A. W. Andren, J. R. Sullivan, R. Hammond, and D. A. Webb. 1995. Influences of watershed characteristics on mercury levels in Wisconsin rivers. *Environmental Science and Technology* 29:1867-1875.
- Johnson, R. K., T. Wiederholm, and D. M. Rosenberg. 1993. Freshwater biomonitoring using individual organisms, populations, and species assemblages of benthic macroinvertebrates. Pages 40-158 in D. M. Rosenberg and V. H. Resh (editors). Freshwater biomonitoring and benthic macroinvertebrates, Springer, London, U.K.
- Kallemeyn, L. 2000. A comparison of fish communities from 32 inland lakes in Isle Royale National Park, 1929 and 1995-1997. U.S. Geological Survey, Biological Science Report 0004, National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia. 65 pp. + 4 appendices.
- Kallemeyn, L. W., K. L. Holmberg, J. A. Perry, and B. Y. Odde. 2003. Aquatic synthesis for Voyageurs National Park. U.S. Geological Survey, Information and Technology Report 2003-0001. 95 pp.
- Kenow, K. P., K. A. Grasman, R. K. Hines, M. W. Meyer, A. Gendron-Fitzpatrick, M. G. Spaulding, and B. R. Gray. 2007. Effects of methylmercury exposure on the immune function of juvenile common loons (*Gavia immer*). *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 26:1460-1469.
- Knights, B. C., J. G. Wiener, M. B. Sandheinrich, J. D. Jeremiason, L. W. Kallemeyn, K. R. Rolfhus, and M. E. Brigham. March 2005. Ecosystem factors influencing bioaccumulation of mercury from atmospheric deposition in interior lakes of the Voyageurs National Park, Minnesota. Final Report for Project No. 02-01 to the National Park Service, Natural Resources Preservation Program. 41 pp.
- Lafrancois, B. M., and J. Glase. 2005. Aquatic studies in National Parks of the upper Great Lakes States: past efforts and future directions. National Park Service, Water Resources Division Technical Report NPS/NRWRD/NRTR-2005/334, Denver, Colorado. Available on-line at http://science.nature.nps.gov/im/units/GLKN/reportpubs.cfm.
- Lamborg, C. H., W. F. Fitzgerald, A. W. H. Damman, J. M. Benoit, P. H. Balcom, and D. R Engstrom. 2002. Modern and historic atmospheric mercury fluxes in both hemispheres: global and regional mercury cycling implications. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 16:1104, doi:1110.1029/2001GB1847.
- Larose, C., R. Canuel, M. Lucotte, and R. T. Di Giulio. 2008. Toxicological effects of methylmercury on walleye (*Sander vitreus*) and perch (*Perca flavescens*) from lakes of the boreal forest. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 147C:139-149..
- Latif, M. A., R. A. Bodaly, T. A. Johnston, and R. J. P. Fudge. 2001. Effects of environmental and maternally derived methylmercury on the embryonic and larval stages of walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum*). *Environmental Pollution* 111:139-148.
- Lazorchak, J. M., F. H. McCormick, T. R. Henry, and A. T. Herlihy. 2003. Contamination of fish in streams of the mid-Atlantic region: an approach to regional indicator selection and wildlife assessment. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 22:545-553.

- Liang, L., N. S. Bloom, and M. Horvat. 1994. Simultaneous determination of mercury speciation in biological materials by GC/CVAFS after ethylation and room-temperature precollection. *Clinical Chemistry* 40:602-607.
- Lockhart, W. L., P. Wilkinson, B. N. Billeck, R. A. Danell, R. V. Hunt, G. J. Brunskill, J. DeLaronde, and V. St. Louis. 1998. Fluxes of mercury to lake sediments in central and northern Canada inferred from dated sediment cores. *Biogeochemistry* 40:163-173.
- Lorey, P., and C. T. Driscoll. 1999. Historical trends of mercury deposition in Adirondack lakes. *Environmental Science and Technology* 33:718-722.
- Lyons, J., P. A. Cochran, and D. Fago. 2000. *Wisconsin fishes 2000--status and distribution*. University of Wisconsin Sea Grant Institute, Madison, WI. 87 p.
- Mead, K. 2003. *Dragonflies of the north woods*. Kollath-Stensaas Publishers, Duluth, Minnesota, USA. 200 pp.
- Mergler, D., H. A. Anderson, L. H. M. Chan, K. R. Mahaffey, M. Murray, M. Sakamoto, and A. H. Stern. 2007. Methylmercury exposure and health effects in humans: a worldwide concern. *Ambio* 36:3-11.
- Meyer, M. W., D. C. Evers, J. J. Hartigan, and P. S. Rasmussen. 1998. Patterns of common loon (*Gavia immer*) mercury exposure, reproduction, and survival in Wisconsin, USA. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 17:184-190.
- Moran, P. W., N. Aluru, R. W. Black, and M. M Vijayan. 2007. Tissue contaminants and associated transcriptional response in trout liver from high elevation lakes of Washington *Environmental Science and Technology* 41:6591-6597.
- Munthe, J., R. A. Bodaly, B. A. Branfireun, C. T. Driscoll, C. C. Gilmour, R. Harris, M. Horvat, M. Lucotte, and O. Malm. 2007. Recovery of mercury-contaminated fisheries. *Ambio* 36:33-44.
- National Research Council. 2000. *Toxicological effects of methylmercury*. Committee on the Toxicological Effects of Methylmercury, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- Needham, J. G., J. J. Westfall, Jr., and M. J. May. 2000. *Dragonflies of North America*, revised edition. Scientific Publications, Gainesville, Florida, USA. 939 pp.
- Olson, M. L., L. B. Cleckner, J. P. Hurley, D. P. Krabbenhoft, and T. W. Heelan. 1997. Resolution of matrix effects on analyses of total and methyl mercury in aqueous samples from the Florida Everglades. *Fresenius Journal of Analytical Chemistry* 358:392-396.
- Orihel, D. M., M. J. Paterson, P. J. Blanchfield, R. A. Bodaly, and H. Hintelmann. 2007. Experimental evidence of a linear relationship between inorganic mercury loading and methylmercury accumulation by aquatic biota. *Environmental Science and Technology* 41:4952-4958.
- Paterson, M. J., J. W. M. Rudd, and V. St. Louis. 1998. Increases in total and methylmercury in zooplankton following flooding of a peatland reservoir. *Environmental Science and Technology* 32:3868-3874.

- Pickhardt, P. C., C. L. Folt, C. Y. Chen, B. Klaue, and J. D. Blum. 2002. Algal blooms reduce the uptake of toxic methylmercury in freshwater food webs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 99:4419-4423.
- Pickhardt, P. C., M. Stepanova, and N. S. Fisher. 2006. Contrasting uptake routes and tissue distributions of inorganic and methylmercury in mosquitofish (*Gambusia affinis*) and redear sunfish (*Lepomis microlophus*). *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 25:2132-2142.
- Rasmussen, P. W., C. S. Schrank, and P. A. Campfield. 2007. Temporal trends of mercury concentrations in Wisconsin walleye (*Sander vitreus*), 1982–2005. *Ecotoxicology* 16:541-550.
- Rodgers, D. W. 1994. You are what you eat and a little bit more: bioenergetics-based models of methylmercury accumulation in fish revisited. Pages 427-439 *in* C. J. Watras and J. W. Huckabee, editors. Mercury pollution: integration and synthesis. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida, USA.
- Roseman, E. F., E. L. Mills, J. L. Forney, and L. G. Rudstam. 1996. Evaluation of competition between age 0 yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) and gizzard shad (*Dorosoma cepedianum*) in Oneida Lake, New York. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 53:865-874.
- Route, B., W. Bowerman, and K. Kozie. 2008. Protocol for monitoring environmental contaminants in bald eagles, Version 1.0. National Park Service, Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network Technical Report, Ashland, Wisconsin. 52 pp.
- Route, B., and J. Elias, editors. 2007. Long-term Ecological Monitoring Plan: Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network. National Park Service, Natural Resource Report NPS/GLKN/NRR-2007/001, Ashland, Wisconsin. Available on-line at http://science.nature.nps.gov/im/units/GLKN/reportpubs.cfm
- Scheuhammer, A. M. 1991. Effects of acidification on the availability of toxic metals and calcium to wild birds and mammals. *Environmental Pollution* 71:329-375.
- Scheuhammer, A. M., M. W. Meyer, M. B. Sandheinrich, and M. W. Murray. 2007. Effects of environmental methylmercury on the health of wild birds, mammals, and fish. *Ambio* 36:12-18.
- Schwarzbach, S. E., J. D. Albertson, and C. M. Thomas. 2006. Effects of predation, flooding, and contamination on reproductive success of California Clapper Rails (*Rallus longirostris* obsoletus) in San Francisco Bay. *The Auk* 123:45-60.
- Scott, W. B., and E. J. Crossman. 1973. Freshwater fishes of Canada. Fisheries Research Board of Canada Bulletin 184, Ottawa, Ontario. 966 p.
- Sellers, P., C. A. Kelly, and J. W. M. Rudd. 2001. Fluxes of methylmercury to the water column of a drainage lake: the relative importance of internal and external sources. *Limnology and Oceanography* 46:623-631.
- Shaw-Allen, P. L., C. S. Romanek, A. L. Bryan, Jr., H. Brant, and C. H. Jagoe. 2005. Shifts in relative tissue δ15 values in snowy egret nestlings with dietary mercury exposure: a marker for increased protein degradation. *Environmental Science and Technology* 39:4226-4233.

- Simonin, H. A., S. P. Gloss, C. T. Driscoll, C. L. Schofield, W. A. Kretser, R. W. Karcher, and J. Symula. 1994. Mercury in yellow perch from Adirondack drainage lakes (New York, U.S.). Pages 457-469 in C. J. Watras and J. W. Huckabee, editors. *Mercury pollution: integration and synthesis*. Lewis Publishers Boca Raton, Florida, USA.
- Sorensen, J. A., L. W. Kallemeyn, and M. Sydor. 2005. Relationship between mercury accumulation in young-of-the-year yellow perch and water-level fluctuations. *Environmental Science and Technology* 39:9237-9243.
- Spalding, M. G., P. C. Frederick, H. C. McGill, S. N. Bouton, and L. R. McDowell. 2000a. Methylmercury accumulation in tissues and its effects on growth and appetite in captive great egrets. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 36:411-422.
- Spalding, M. G., P. C. Frederick, H. C. McGill, S. N. Bouton, L. J. Richey, I. M. Schumacher, C. G. M. Blackmore, and J. Harrison. 2000b. Histologic, neurologic, and immunologic effects of methylmercury in captive great egrets. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 36:423-435.
- St. Louis, V. L., J. W. M. Rudd, C. A. Kelly, K. G. Beaty, R. J. Flett, and N. T. Roulet. 1996. Production and loss of methylmercury and loss of total mercury from boreal forest catchments containing different types of wetlands. *Environmental Science and Technology* 30:2719-2729.
- Suns, K., G. Hitchin, B. Loescher, E. Pastorek, and R. Pearce. 1987. Metal accumulations in fishes from Muskoka-Haliburton lakes in Ontario (1978-1984). Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Technical Report, Rexdale, Ontario, Canada. 38 p.
- Suns, K., and G. Hitchin. 1990. Interrelationships between mercury levels in yearling yellow perch, fish condition and water quality. *Water Air and Soil Pollution* 50:255-265.
- Swain, E. B., D. R. Engstrom, M. E. Brigham, T. A. Henning, and P. L. Brezonik. 1992. Increasing rates of atmospheric mercury deposition in midcontinental North America. *Science* 257:784-787.
- Tennessen, K. J. 2007. Odonata. Pages 237-294 in R. W. Merritt, K. W. Cummins, and M. Berg (editors). An introduction to the aquatic insects of North America (4th edition). Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company, Dubuque, Iowa, USA.
- Tremblay, A., B. Ludwig, M. Meili, L. Cloutier, and P. Pichet. 1996. Total mercury and methylmercury contents of insects from boreal lakes: ecological, spatial and temporal patterns. *Water Quality Research Journal of Canada* 31:851-873.
- Tremblay, G., P. Legendre, J. F. Doyon, R. Verdon, and R. Schetagne. 1998. The use of polynomial regression analysis with indicator variables for interpretation of mercury in fish data. *Biogeochemistry* 40:189-201.
- Trudel, M., and J. B. Rasmussen. 1997. Modeling the elimination of mercury by fish. *Environmental Science and Technology* 31:1716-1722.
- USEPA. 2001*a*. Update: national listing of fish and wildlife advisories. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Fact Sheet EPA-823-F-01-010. Office of Water, Washington, DC.

- USEPA 2001b. Appendix to Method 1631: Total mercury in tissue, sludge, sediment, and soil by acid digestion and BrCl oxidation. US Environmental Protection Agency, Report EPA-821-R-01-13, Washington, DC.
- USEPA. 2005. 2004 National listing of fish advisories. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Fact Sheet EPA-823-F-05-004. Office of Water, Washington, DC.
- Van Walleghem, J. L. A., P. L. Blanchfield, and H. Hintelmann. 2007. Elimination of mercury by yellow perch in the wild. *Environmental Science and Technology* 41:5895-5901.
- Watras, C. J., N. S. Bloom, R. J. M. Hudson, S. Gherini, R. Munson, S. A. Claas, K. A. Morrison, J. Hurley, J. G. Wiener, W. F. Fitzgerald, R. Mason, G. Vandal, D. Powell, R. Rada, L. Rislove, M. Winfrey, J. Elder, D. Krabbenhoft, A. W. Andren, C. Babiarz, D. B. Porcella, and J. W. Huckabee. 1994. Sources and fates of mercury and methylmercury in Wisconsin lakes. Pages 153-177 *in* C. J. Watras and J. W. Huckabee, editors. *Mercury pollution: integration and synthesis*. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida, USA.
- Watras, C. J., R. C. Back, S. Halvorsen, R. J. M. Hudson, K. A. Morrison, and S. P. Wente. 1998. Bioaccumulation of mercury in pelagic freshwater food webs. *Science of the Total Environment* 219:183-208.
- Wellborn, G. A., D. K. Skelly, and E. E.Werner. 1996. Mechanisms creating community structure across a freshwater habitat gradient. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 27:337-363.
- Wiener, J. G., and J. M. Eilers. 1987. Chemical and biological status of lakes and streams in the Upper Midwest: assessment of acidic deposition effects. *Lake and Reservoir Management* 3:365-378.
- Wiener, J. G., R. A. Bodaly, S. S. Brown, M. Lucotte, M. C. Newman, D. B. Porcella, R. J. Reash, and E. B. Swain. 2007. Monitoring and evaluating trends in methylmercury accumulation in aquatic biota. Chapter 4 in R. C. Harris, D. P. Krabbenhoft, R. P. Mason, M. W. Murray, R. J. Reash, and T. Saltman (editors), *Ecosystem Responses to Mercury Contamination: Indicators of Change*. CRC Press/Taylor and Francis, Boca Raton, Florida. pp. 87-122.
- Wiener, J. G., W. F. Fitzgerald, C. J. Watras, and R. G. Rada. 1990. Partitioning and bioavailability of mercury in an experimentally acidified Wisconsin lake. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 9:909-918.
- Wiener, J. G., B. C. Knights, M. B. Sandheinrich, J. D. Jeremiason, M. E. Brigham, D. R. Engstrom, L. G. Woodruff, W. F. Cannon, and S. J. Balogh. 2006. Mercury in soils, lakes, and fish in Voyageurs National Park: importance of atmospheric deposition and ecosystem factors. *Environmental Science and Technology* 40:6261-6268.
- Wiener, J. G., D. P. Krabbenhoft, G. H. Heinz, and A. M. Scheuhammer. 2003. Ecotoxicology of mercury. Pages 409-463 in D. J. Hoffman, B. A. Rattner, G. A. Burton, Jr., and J. Cairns, Jr., editors. *Handbook of ecotoxicology*, 2nd edition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Wolfe, M. F., S. Schwarzbach, and R. A. Sulaiman. 1998. Effects of mercury on wildlife: a comprehensive review. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 17:146-160.

Yeardley, R. B., Jr. 2000. Use of small forage fish for regional streams wildlife risk assessment: relative bioaccumulation of contaminants. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 65:559–585.

Appendix 1. Dragonfly species recorded for the nine National Park Service units in the Great Lakes Monitoring and Inventory Network. Species records were derived from county records. Unit acronyms are as follows: (APIS) Apostle Islands National Lakeshore, (GRPO) Grand Portage National Monument; (INDU) Indiana Dunes National Lakeshore, (ISRO) Isle Royale National Park, (MISS) Mississippi National Riverway and Recreation Area, (PIRO) Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, (SACN) Saint Croix National Scenic Riverway, (SLBE) Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, and (YOYA) Voyageurs National Park.

	API	GRP	IND	ISR	MIS	PIR	SAC	SLB	VOY
ΤΑΧΑ	S	0	U	0	S	0	Ν	Е	Α
AESHNIDAE									
Aeshna canadensis	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
A. clepsydra			Х	Х			Х	Х	
A. constricta	Х		Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	
A. eremita	Х	Х		Х	Х		Х		
A. interrupta									
interrupta		Х			Х		Х		Х
A. interrupta lineata					Х				Х
A. sitchensis				Х		Х			Х
A. subarctica				Х			Х		Х
A. tuberculifera	Х			Х	Х		Х	Х	
A. umbrosa	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
A. verticalis	Х				Х	Х	Х		
Anax junius	X	Х	Х	X	X	Х	X	Х	
Basiaeschna janata	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Boyeria grafiana		Х							
B. vinosa	Х		X	Х		Х	Х	Х	
Epiaeschna heros			Х						
Gomphaeschna									
furcillata						Х	Х	Х	
Nasiaeschna							V		
pentacantna							Х		
Rnionaeschna								V	
mutata								X	
CORDULEGASTRIDA									
E Cordulogoator									
bilipooto								v	
				V		V		^	
C. diastatops	v	V		$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$		Ŷ	V	V	V
C. Maculata	Ŷ	^		^	v	Ŷ		^	^
C. Obliqua	^				^	^	^		
Cordulia shurtleffii	х	х		х	х	х	х	х	
Dorocordulia libera	X	X		X	X	X	X	X	Х
Epitheca									
(Tetragoneuria) canis	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Epitheca									
(Epicordulia) princeps	X				Х		Х	Х	

Appendix 1, continued.									
TAXA	APIS	GRPO	INDU	ISRO	MISS	PIRO	SACN	SLBE	VOYA
CORDULIIDAE									
Epitheca.									
(Tetragoneuria)									
cynosura	Х	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х	
Ε.									
(Tetragoneuria)									
spinigera	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Neurocordulia									
molesta							Х		
N.									
yamaskanensis					Х		Х		Х
Somatochlora									
elongate	Х	Х		Х		Х	Х	Х	
S. ensigera		Х							
S. forcipata				Х		Х	Х		Х
S. franklini				Х		Х	Х		Х
S. hineana			Х						
S. incurvata				Х		Х			
S. kennedyi	Х				Х	Х	Х		
S. minor	Х	Х		Х			Х		Х
S. tenebrosa								Х	
S. walshii					Х	X	Х		Х
S. williamsoni	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Williamsonia									
fletcheri						Х	Х		
GUMPHIDAE									
Arigomphus	v				v	V	V		v
COMULUS A furgifor	~		V			~		v	~
A. IUICITEI A. villosinos			^		Ŷ		^	Ŷ	
A. VIIIOSIPES					~			~	
spiposus	Y	Y		Y		Y	Y	Y	
Gomphus	~	~		~		~	~	~	
(Gomphurus)									
externus					x		x		
G fraternus	x				X		X		х
G lineatifrons	Λ				χ		X	х	Λ
G vastus	х				х		X	X	х
G ventricosus	x				x		x	~	X
Gomphus	~				~		~		~
(Gomphus) exilis	х	х		х		х	х	х	Х
G. graslinellus	~	X		~		~	X		X
G. lividus	Х	Х				Х	Х	Х	

Appendix 1, continued.									
TAXA	APIS	GRPO	INDU	ISRO	MISS	PIRO	SACN	SLBE	VOYA
GOMPHIDAE									
Gomphus									
(Gomphus)									
quadricolor	Х				Х		Х	Х	
G spicatus	X	Х		Х	X	Х	X	X	Х
G	~			~	~	7	7		~
(Hylogomphus)									
adelnhus	х	х			х	х	х	х	
G viridifrons	X	Λ			X	Λ	X	Λ	X
U. Vindinons Haganius	~				Λ		Λ		Λ
brovietylus	Y	Y		Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Onbiogomphus	Λ	Λ		Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ	~	~
opiniogomphus		v					v		
	v					v			
O. calubrinuo				V				V	v
O. colubrinus		Χ		Χ		X		Χ	X
O. nowei		V		V	V			V	V
0. rupinsulensis	Х	X		X	X		X	X	X
0. smitni					V		X		
O. susbencha					Х		Х		
Progomphus									
obscurus							Х	Х	
Stylogomphus									
albistylus	Х						Х		
Stylurus									
amnicola	Х				Х		Х		Х
S. notatus					Х		Х	Х	Х
S. scudderi	Х					Х	Х	Х	Х
S. spiniceps	Х						Х		Х
Celithemis elisa	х		х	х	х		х	х	
C enonina	Λ		X	Λ	X		X	Λ	
C fasciata			X		Λ		Λ		
C. lasciala Enthomis			Λ						
simplicicallis									
simplicicollis	V		V		V		V	V	
simplicicollis		V		v		v			
Lauona julia	~	^	^	^	^	~	~	~	
Leucorrninia	V	V		V	V	V	V	V	
Trigida	X	X		X	X	X	X	X	
L. giacialis	X	X		N/	X	X	X	X	X
L. hudsonica	X	Х		X	X	X	X	X	X
L. Intacta	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	Х
L. patricia							X		
L. proxima	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

Appendix 1, continued.									
TAXA	APIS	GRPO	INDU	ISRO	MISS	PIRO	SACN	SLBE	VOYA
LIBELLULIDAE									
Libellula cyanea			Х						
L. incesta								Х	
L. luctuosa			Х		Х		Х		
L. pulchella	Х		Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
L.									
quadrimaculata	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
L. semifasciata			Х						
L. vibrans			Х						
Nannothemis									
bella	Х					Х	Х	Х	
Pachydiplax									
longipennis	Х		Х		Х		Х		
Pantala									
flavescens	Х	Х	Х		Х		Х	Х	
P. hymenaea	Х		Х		Х		Х	Х	
Perithemis									
tenera	Х				Х		Х		
Plathemis lydia	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Sympetrum									
ambiguum			Х						
S. corruptum	Х	Х	Х		Х		Х	Х	
S. costiferum	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
S. danae	Х			Х	Х		Х	Х	Х
S. internum	Х	Х		Х	Х		Х	Х	Х
S. obtrusum	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
S. rubicundulum	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
S. semicinctum									
fasciatum					Х				
S. vicinum	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Tramea carolina			Х				Х		
T. lacerata			Х		Х			Х	
T. onusta			Х		Х		Х	Х	
MACROMIDAE									
Didymons									
transvorsa	X	X		X	X	X	X	X	
Macromia	^	^		^	^	^	^	^	
illinoionsis									
illinoionsis						v	v	v	
111110101313						^	^	^	

Appendix 2. Statistical considerations pertaining to sampling design.

Computing Sample Size Required to Detect a Linear Trend

An objective of many contaminant monitoring programs is to detect and describe temporal change in contaminant concentrations in fish or other organisms. The probability of detecting changes or trends of a specified magnitude in contaminant concentration is referred to as statistical power (Riget et al. 2000). Statistical power is influenced by the magnitude of the temporal trend in contaminant concentrations, the number of years over which sampling occurs, the number of samples collected each year, within- and between-year sampling and analytical variability, and the significance level of the applied test (e.g., simple linear regression; Bignert et al. 2004). Moreover, the pattern of change also greatly affects the power of a monitoring program to detect changes in contaminant concentration. Nicholson and Fryer (1992) provided an example of six scenarios with the same magnitude, but with different patterns, of change in contaminant concentrations over 10 years (Figure A2.1) and the relative ability (i.e., power) to statistically detect change in contaminant concentration (Table A2.1). For example, they showed that, if there was a 90% probability of detecting a change in contaminant load with immediate uptake (scenario on the upper left corner in Figure A2.1), then there was only a 46% chance of detecting the same magnitude of change if it occurred in a linear fashion (scenario on the upper right corner of Figure A2.1).



Figure A2.1. Changes in contaminant levels with time for six hypothetical scenarios. The magnitude of change is identical for each scenario (from Nicholson and Fryer 1992).

Scenario	Power (%)	Required increase
1. Change in load with immediate uptake	90	1.00
2. Change in load with gradual uptake	72	1.21
3. Linear change in load and uptake	46	1.57
4. Exponential change in load and uptake	42	1.63
5. Incident with immediate recovery	40	1.67
6. Randomly fluctuating levels	33	1.83

Table A2.1. Power achieved under various scenarios, as illustrated in Figure A2.1, for a change in contaminant level giving 90% power for scenario 1. The right-hand column gives the factor by which the change in contaminant level would need to increase for the corresponding scenario to have a power of 90% or 0.90 (from Nicholson and Fryer 1992).

If the power and significance level of the statistical test is specified, it may be possible to determine the number of samples of fish or other biota that need to be collected annually to detect a temporal trend in contaminant concentrations with a specific magnitude and pattern of change. The *a priori* proposed objective is to determine the number of samples that need to be collected annually to have an 80% probability of detecting a 20% change in mean contaminant concentration over 10 years with a Type I error (α) of 0.10. In the absence of pilot data or other information, we will assume that contaminant concentrations in fish or other biota change annually by a constant percentage. The change in contaminant level can, therefore, be described as a log-linear relationship after log transformation of the concentration data, with the slope of the line (b) equal to the mean annual change in contaminant concentration. Therefore, a 20%change in concentration over 10 years is equivalent to an average annual change in log-concentration of 1.1% (b = 0.011). In contaminant monitoring programs, annual mean log-concentrations in biota are typically normally distributed with homogeneous within-year variance (Nicholson et al. 1995) and, therefore, parametric statistical tests can be applied during analysis of the data. In addition, we will assume that sampling occurs once per year and that sampling occurs annually. The ability (i.e., power) to detect trends in contaminant concentrations is greatly reduced if sampling is done at a frequency less than once a year (Bignert et al. 2004).

Nicholson et al. (1997) presented equations to calculate power for detecting temporal trends in contaminant monitoring programs. Those equations, as well as modifications of those equations, will be used in the calculation of sample size. If we consider changes in contaminant concentrations to be a linear trend with time, then

$$\log y_t = a + bt$$

(1)

where y_t is the expected mean contaminant concentration in year *t*, and *b* is the linear trend (i.e., change) in the mean log concentration per year.

If the mean log-concentrations are normally distributed about the linear trend with constant variance $(Var[y_t])$, then

$$(Var[y_t]) = \Psi^2 \tag{2}$$

Simple linear regression of contaminant concentrations in biota versus time is used to establish the linear trend and an *F*-test with 1 and *T* - 2 degrees of freedom (where T = total number of years contaminant levels are measured) is used to test the null hypothesis of b = 0.

An estimate of the total variance, Ψ^2 , can be obtained from the residual sum of squares of the regression of y_t on t. But to determine sample size, R, we must further subdivide the total variance into its sub-components. If each biosentinel organism is analyzed individually, then for the mean log-concentration, the total variance can be expressed as

$$\Psi^{2} = \sigma_{y}^{2} + \sigma_{w}^{2} / R + \tau_{y}^{2} + \tau_{w}^{2} / R$$
(3)

where

 σ_y^2 is the between-year sampling variance (i.e., variability introduced when animals are collected a year apart after accounting for any systematic trend),

 σ_{w}^{2} is the within-year sampling variance (i.e., variation in animals collected at the same time),

 τ_y^2 is the analytical variation for the same samples measured a year apart, and

 τ^2_{w} is the analytical variation between replicated determinations made at the same time.

Equation (3) can be re-arranged as follows to solve for R,

$$R = (\sigma_w^2 + \tau_w^2) / (\Psi^2 - (\sigma_y^2 + \tau_y^2))$$
(4)

Before proceeding, it is instructive to note from the denominator of equation (4) that between-year sampling and analytical variance $(\sigma_y^2 + \tau_y^2)$ must be less than the maximum allowable total variance, Ψ^2 , for a pre-defined level of power, alpha, sampling period, and linear trend. If between-year sampling and analytical variance exceeds the total variance, then even an infinite number of samples will be insufficient to detect a trend under the pre-defined conditions.

The four components of variance might be obtained from a pilot study specifically designed to obtain this information or from published sources. Nicholson et al. (1997) estimated τ_w and τ_y from a laboratory inter-calibration study of metals in fish tissue. Estimates of sampling variance, σ_w and σ_y , were made from approximately 90 trend series of mercury in fish and mussel tissue. The estimates of each of the variance components were ranked by type and divided into three equal groups representing low, medium, and high variability. The median of each group was calculated (Table A2.2) and subsequently used in their assessment of how these sources of variance affected power.

Group	Sampling variability between years (σ_y)	Sampling variability within years (σ_w)	Analytical variability between years (τ _v)	Analytical variability within years (t _w)
Low	0.082	0.255	0.087	0.039
Medium	0.255	0.306	0.134	0.052
High	0.516	0.443	0.235	0.103

Table A2.2. Median coefficients of variance for low, medium, and high sampling and analytical variability (from Nicholson et al. 1997).

By re-arranging equations used by Nicholson et al. (1997) for power calculation, it is possible to estimate total maximum allowable variance, Ψ^2 , for a pre-defined level of power, alpha, sampling period and linear trend.

Power can be calculated from a non-central F-distribution on 1 and *T*-2 degrees of freedom, with non-centrality parameter

$$\delta = b^2 \underbrace{(T-1) \ T \ (T+1)}_{12 \ \Psi^2} \tag{5}$$

Equation (5) can be re-arranged to solve for Ψ^2 ,

$$\Psi^{2} = b^{2} \frac{(T-1) T (T+1)}{12 \delta}$$
(6)

The non-centrality parameter, δ , can be computed with the SAS (Statistical Analysis System, Inc.) functions FNONCT and FINV.

$$\delta = \text{FNONCT} (F_{1-\alpha}, 1, T-2, 1-\text{power})$$
(7)

where α is the significance level of the test and $F_{1-\alpha}$ is the 100(1- α)th percentile from the *F* distribution with 1 and *T* - 2 degrees of freedom determined by

$$F_{1-\alpha} = \text{FINV}(1-\alpha, 1, T-2, 0)$$
(8)

Recalling that for our sampling objective we have defined $\alpha = 0.10$, power = 0.80, b = 0.011, and T = 10, and solving for $F_{1-\alpha}$ and δ , equation (6) then becomes

$$\Psi^{2} = (0.011)^{2} \frac{(10-1) \ 10 \ (10+1)}{12 \ (7.434)} \tag{9}$$

 $\Psi^2 = 0.00134$

From Table A2.2, for an optimal situation with low sampling and analytical variation, $\sigma_y^2 + \tau_y^2 = 0.0143$. Because this value exceeds the calculated allowable maximum variance,

 Ψ^2 , for our pre-defined sampling objective, it is unlikely that an annual trend as small as 1.1% could be detected after 10 years of sampling even with an infinite number of samples

Given this, it is informative to re-state the sampling objective and instead determine what minimal trends may be detected with 80% probability and $\alpha = 0.10$ after 10 years with different combinations of *R* and sampling and analytical variation (Table A2.3). For example, under optimal conditions of low sampling and analytical variability, the smallest annual change in log concentration that may be detected is 3.9% (Table A2.3). As demonstrated by Nicholson et al. (1997), increasing R reduces the number of years required to detect a specified trend or reduces the minimum trend that can be detected within a specified period, but the effect is small when sample sizes exceed 25. Moreover, changes in sample size have greatest effect when sampling variability is low or medium.

Table A2.3. Minimum annual trend (percent change in log concentration) that can be detected in 10 years with annual sample sizes (R) of 5 or 25 organisms, power = 0.80, α = 0.10 and different combinations of low, medium, or high sampling variability.

0	Analytical variability (τ)									
(σ)	Lo	ow	Med	lium	High					
	R=5	R=25	R=5	R=25	R=5	R=25				
Low	5.0	3.9	5.9	5.0	8.3	7.7				
Medium	9.1	8.3	9.6	8.8	14.1	10.6				
High	16.8	15.9	17.1	16.2	18.1	17.2				

Computing Sample Size Required to Detect Differences in Contaminant Concentration in Fish between Two Water Bodies or between Two Times in the Same Water Body

Recent work in the Voyageurs National Park demonstrates that concentrations of methylmercury in fish may vary markedly both spatially and temporally (Sorensen et al. 2005, Wiener et al. 2006). For example, standardized mercury concentrations in fillets of 55-cm northern pike (*Esox lucius*) vary almost 10-fold, and concentrations in whole, age-1 yellow perch vary more than 5-fold among the small interior lakes in the Park (Knights et al. 2005, Wiener et al. 2006). Within a single lake in Voyageurs National Park, mercury concentrations in age-1 yellow perch varied more than four-fold during 6 years of sampling (M.B. Sandheinrich, University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, unpublished data). Consequently, given a target value for power, it is desirable to determine the minimum sample size required to detect differences in mean concentrations of mercury in fish between two lakes or between two years within a given lake.

Numerous statistical texts provide formulae to calculate sample size based on the standard normal (z) distribution (e.g., Snedecor and Cochran 1989) or the t distribution (e.g., Zar 1999). Gerow (2006) discussed the shortcomings of these formulae, advocated the use of a non-central t distribution, and provided an Excel tool (available for free

download at <u>www.statsalive.com</u>) for calculation of sample size requirements for situations commonly encountered by fisheries biologists.

We applied the Excel tool (Gerow 2006) to data on mercury concentrations in age-1 yellow perch sampled from 17 inland lakes of Voyageurs National Park in 2000, 2001, and 2002 (Wiener et al. 2006) to estimate the sample size required to detect a 20% difference in mean mercury concentrations between two samples with a power of 0.80 and alpha = 0.10. The standard deviation of each sample was assumed to be proportional to the mean; a two-sided test was used and samples were assumed to be independent and equal. For the 32 samples collected in Voyageurs National Park, the average coefficient of variation of the mean mercury concentration in yellow perch was 0.16 (median = 0.15) and ranged from 0.08 to 0.31. Based on the average coefficient of variation, a minimum of 11 fish in each sample would need to be collected to detect a 20% difference in mean mercury concentrations. Given the maximum coefficient of variation (0.31), a minimum of 37 fish in each sample would be required.

Literature Cited

- Bignert, A., F. Riget, B. Braune, P. Outridge, and S. Wilson. 2004. Recent temporal trend monitoring of mercury in Arctic biota—how powerful are the existing data sets? *Journal of Environmental Monitoring* 6:351-355.
- Gerow, K. G. 2007. Power and sample size estimation techniques for fisheries management: assessment and a new computation tool. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 27:397-404.
- Nicholson, M. D., and R. J. Fryer. 1992. The statistical power of monitoring programmes. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 24:146-149.
- Nicholson, M. D., R. J. Fryer, and C. A. Ross. 1997. Designing monitoring programmes for detecting temporal trends in contaminants in fish and shellfish. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 34:821-826.
- Riget, F., R. Dietz, and M. Cleemann. 2000. Evaluation of the Greenland AMAP Programme 1994-1995, by use of power analysis (illustrated by selected heavy metals and POPs). *Science of the Total Environment* 245(1-3):249-259.
- Snedecor, G. W., and W. G. Cochran. 1989. *Statistical methods*, 8th edition. Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa, USA.
- Sorensen, J. A., L. W. Kallemeyn, and M. Sydor. 2005. Relationship between mercury accumulation in young of the year yellow perch and water level fluctuations. *Environmental Science and Technology* 39:9237-9243.
- Wiener, J. G., B. C. Knights, M. B. Sandheinrich, J. D. Jeremiason, M. E. Brigham, D. R. Engstrom, L. G., Woodruff, W. F. Cannon, and S. J. Balogh. 2006. Methylmercury in lacustrine food webs in the Voyageurs National Park: importance of atmospheric deposition and ecosystem factors. *Environmental Science and Technology* 40:6261-6268.
- Zar, J. H. 1999. *Biostatistical analysis*, 4th edition. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, USA. *cologia* 45:451-452.